Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev

Review The SEEKING mind: Primal neuro-affective substrates for appetitive incentive states and their pathological dynamics in addictions and depression

Antonio Alcaro^{a,*}, Jaak Panksepp^b

^a Santa Lucia Foundation, European Centre for Brain Research (CERC), Via del Fosso di Fiorano 65, 00143 Rome, Italy
^b Department of Veterinary and Comparative Anatomy, Washington State University, Pullman, WA 99164-6520, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: SEEKING Appetitive motivation Incentive Reward Drive Emotion Affect Dopamine Accumbens Oscillations Depression Addiction

ABSTRACT

Appetitive motivation and incentive states are essential functions sustained by a common emotional brain process, the SEEKING disposition, which drives explorative and approach behaviors, sustains goal-directed activity, promotes anticipatory cognitions, and evokes feelings of positive excitement which control reward-learning. All such functions are orchestrated by the same "archetypical" neural processes, activated in ancient subcortical areas and transported to the forebrain by the mesolimbic dopamine (ML-DA) system. In mammals, the neurophysiology of the SEEKING urge is expressed by DA-promoted high-frequency oscillations, in the form of transient and synchronized gamma waves (>30 Hz) emerging in limbic forebrain and diffusing throughout basal ganglia-thalamocortical (BG-T-C) circuits. These patterns may be considered basic "SEEKING neurodynamic impulses" which represent the primary-process exploratory disposition getting integrated with information relative to the external and the internal environment.

Abnormal manifestation of SEEKING and its neural substrates are evident in clinical depression and addiction. Specifically, depression is characterized by reduced recruitment of SEEKING, while addictions reflect re-organizations of the SEEKING disposition around ultra-specific appetitive memories and compulsive activities.

© 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1806
2.	Psycho-behavioral features	1807
	2.1. Unconditioned expressions of SEEKING	1807
	2.2. SEEKING in learning	1808
	2.3. SEEKING in evolution	1808
3.	Neurobiology of SEEKING	1809
	3.1. Neuroanatomy	1809
	3.2. Neurochemistry: the ML-DA system	1810
	3.3. Neurodynamics	1811
4.	The SEEKING disposition and psychiatric diseases	1812
	4.1. Depression	1812
	4.2. Addiction	1813
	4.3. Direct measures of affective states in depression and addiction animal models	1815
5.	Conclusion: SEEKING and the emotional view of appetitive urges	1815
	Acknowledgement	1815
	References	1815

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +39 06501703075; fax: +39 06501703319. *E-mail address*: antonioalcaro@yahoo.it (A. Alcaro).

^{0149-7634/\$ –} see front matter 0 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.03.002

1. Introduction

It is generally accepted that all animals are evolutionarily endowed with at least two opposite basic motivational tendencies, namely approach and withdrawal, whose activation is accompanied by positive and negative affective states usually called 'rewards' and 'punishments in behavioral neuroscience studies (Plutchik, 1980). Such opposite psychological-behavioral states have been conserved in all mammalian species, but perhaps even in very simple species like invertebrates (see Huber et al., 2011), allowing organisms to search for life-supporting events and to avoid harmful ones.

Although we know that there can be many distinct emotional processes aroused from unconditional brain systems in action (Panksepp, 1982, 1998, 2011a), those global categories called positive and negative affect are useful for distinguishing what have been philosophically discussed, since time immemorial, as the pains and pleasures of affective life.

Interestingly, approach and withdrawal tendencies are also expressed in vocal communicative patterns in many species, including crying and laughter in humans. Indeed, recent investigations of laboratory rats highlight two general categories of ultrasonic vocalizations, the \sim 50 kHz positive vocalizations, that appear in appetitive contexts and during positive social interactions, with properties that resemble childhood laughter (Panksepp, 2007), and the \sim 22 kHz vocalization, exhibited in aversive contexts and under social and environmental threats (for summaries, see Brudzynski, 2007, 2009; Burgdorf and Panksepp, 2006; Knutson et al., 2002; Panksepp et al., 2002).

The existence of basic approach systems, which contrast with functionally opposing withdrawal processes, has been postulated by many philosophers and scientists, and, in the "modern era", by Schneirla (1959), from a pre-neuroscientific behavioral-ethological perspective, and by Glickman and Schiff (1967), from a neuroscience perspective. Now, with the extraordinary progresses that has been achieved in the past half century of neuroscience, such opposite tendencies have been related to the interaction of multiple neural circuits localized in extended brain regions, from the lower brainstem to the forebrain (for summary, see Panksepp, 1998; Panksepp and Biven, 2011). Therefore, approach and withdrawal were eventually linked to the action of two types of brain networks that have traditionally been called the "Brain Reward System" and the "Brain Punishment System" by some (e.g., Moriyama et al., 1984), the "Behavioral Activation System" and the "Behavioral Inhibition System" by others (Gray, 1985), or, ultimately, "the Reward System" and the "Antireward/Stress System" (Koob, 2009). The basic subcortical neuroanatomy of such opposing bi-polar networks has been identified using intracranial electrical stimulation and drug microinjections procedures (Ikemoto, 2010; Panksepp, 1998) (Fig. 1). Abnormal functioning of these basic brain systems is now commonly seen to be involved in psychiatric disorders. For instance, depression and addiction have been related to altered balance between the Brain Reward system and the Brain Antireward/Stress system (Koob, 2009; Stone et al., 2008).

The discovery of incentive-based brain reward networks – mediating appetitive eagerness, approach and incentive reward – originated from the seminal experiments with electrical selfstimulation of the brain (ESSB) discovered by Jim Olds and Peter Miller in 1953. Indeed, it was shown that the stimulation of a complex of neural structures located in the lateral hypothalamic–medial forebrain bundle (LH–MFB) trajectory reinforces operant behaviors (such as lever press) and at the same time induces active exploration and approach (Glickman and Schiff, 1967) with a postulated unitary incentive property (Trowill et al., 1969). However, for historical reasons, the dominance of a cognitive–behavioristic view prevented a full discussion of the



Fig. 1. The basic neuroanatomy of the Approach/Reward and Avoidance/Punishment systems. Schematic drawing shows a flat map of the rat brain adopted and modified from the one by Swanson (2004). Based on brain electrostimulation and drug microinjection studies, the figure indicates a set of subcortical structures promoting reward and appetitive behavioral arousal (black circles) and a set of structures promoting punishment signals and active escape or other negative emotional reactions (gray circles). Interestingly, the two neural networks are widely interconnected and exert a mutual inhibitory influence (Ikemoto, 2010; Panksepp, 1998). Abbreviations: AcS, nucleus accumbens shell; AHN, anterior hypothalamic nucleus; BNST, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis; CeA, central amygdala; DMH, dorsomedial hypothalamus; DR, dorsal raphe; HAB, habenula; LH, lateral hypothalamus; MR, medial raphe; mVP, medioventral pallidum; OT, olfactory tubercle; PAG, periacqueductal gray; RMTg, rostromedial tegmental nucleus; SUM, supramammillary nucleus; VMH, ventromedial hypothalamus; VTA, ventral tegmental area.

deeper evolutionary psychobiological and affective implication of such experimental findings. Some theories emphasized mainly the reinforcement- or reward-learning functions of this neural system (Everitt and Robbins, 2005; Fibiger, 1978; Schultz, 2001, 2010; Spanagel and Weiss, 1999; White and Milner, 1992; Wise, 1978, 2004), others its behavioral activation and appetitive functions (Berridge, 2004; Berridge and Robinson, 1998; Depue and Collins, 1999; Gray, 1985; Ikemoto, 2010; Salamone and Correa, 2002; Wise and Bozarth, 1987). Most of these formulations reflected a strictly third-person, observer-based conceptual perspectives (that is traditional in behavioral neuroscience), with no clear vision of the underlying affective states, aside from some kind of generalized "reward" effect.

Some time ago, an alternative, organism-centred view was formulated, namely the hypothesis that neural areas supporting ESSB, especially along the ML-DA trajectory, constituted a basic emotional brain circuit, that may be appropriately called the SEEKING/EXPECTANCY system, whose activation changes the individual's attitude towards the environment, promoting an energized appetitive disposition, which unconditionally promotes exploration and foraging for resources, and creates expectancy states that allow animals to anticipate the presence of future rewards (Alcaro et al., 2007; Ikemoto and Panksepp, 1999; Panksepp, 1998). This SEEKING disposition (for short) is characterized by (i) overt behavioral responses (exploration, seeking and approaching), (ii) by memory and cognitive effects ('reinforcement' of associative learning, activation of contextual memories and anticipatory predictions) and by (iii) specific kinds of positive affective feelings (a generalized incentive 'emotional' reward state, that does not reflect the pleasure of sensation, but rather the euphoria of appetitive eagerness).

Many lines of evidence indicate that "SEEKING" is a concept rooted in highly characteristic psycho-behavioral and neurobiological processes that drive organisms interacting with specific environmental goal objects, and that are usually active before the organism has formed detailed cognitive or perceptual representations of those objects. Due to its intrinsic positive affective value the activation of SEEKING is experienced by organisms as rewarding *per se*, leading to ESSB without the need for any traditional form of consummatory activity and explicit sensory rewards. Therefore, the SEEKING view grants organisms a mental life, specifically affectiveemotional states created from complex, large-scale unconditioned neural dynamics that constitute the psycho-behavioral foundation for organismic existence (Alcaro et al., 2007; Ikemoto and Panksepp, 1999; Panksepp, 1981a).

In this paper, we integrate our traditional perspective with new empirical findings coming from neurochemical and electrophysiological studies and indicating that SEEKING is related to the emergence of transient high-frequency oscillatory patterns in the limbic forebrain of mammals, and that ML-DA transmission favours the expression and the diffusion of such rhythms. Moreover, since the knowledge of neural aspects of SEEKING may be relevant for psychiatry, we will discuss how depression and addiction may be characterized by an abnormal expression of SEEKING at both brain and behavioral level. In sum, we will focus on a description of the SEEKING disposition from the perspective of its psycho-behavioral features (Section 2), followed by an analysis of its neuroanatomical (Section 3.1), neurochemical (Section 3.2) and neurodynamic substrates (Section 3.3). We end (Section 4), with a discussion of the possible involvement of the SEEKING disposition in major depression and addiction.

2. Psycho-behavioral features

SEEKING, a large-scale integrated process elaborated throughout the MFB, engenders and organizes the organism's intrinsic motor-actions and related autonomic, sensory and cognitive processes, all of which constitute a critically important neuro-affective organismic state-control function. As shown by lesion studies, damage to the SEEKING system renders all animals amotivational, with no eagerness to do anything (Stellar and Stellar, 1985). Without nursing, such animals die. Clearly a massive system like this, which is essential for everything animals do, has an incredible number of sub-functions that are hard to tease apart. But there is every indication that these "parts" work in a coordinated fashion to generate a unified emotional drive, accompanied by an exploratory behavioral urge and energized-euphoric feelings. In our view, not only does this system mediate a positive euphoric feeling guite different from sensory pleasures, but also, with conditioning, the SEEKING system generates a vast array of anticipatory cognitions as well as rewardlearning effects that underlie classical and operant conditioning. Independently from its various cognitive, behavioral, affective and learning manifestations, the SEEKING disposition should be considered a single emotional entity since it is based on characteristic neurobiological processes and it is aimed towards a single generalpurpose intentional (an intention-in-action) goal. This goal is to SEEK and approach a specific source of stimulation, either perceptually processed or cognitively represented.

2.1. Unconditioned expressions of SEEKING

The SEEKING disposition is characterized by instinctual behavioral tendencies that help organisms to attend, move, explore and approach goal-objects – via many actions such as locomotion, orientation, specific types of head and body movements, eye saccades, sniffing in olfactory creatures, and sensorial investigation of many non-aversive objects that are confronted during foraging. Through such coordinated behavioral patterns, synchronized with changing autonomic states, specific objects or features of the external environment, including salient non-reward events (Horvitz, 2000), are kept within the organism attentive focus and quickly acquire learned *secondary-reward*, or learned incentive value, that has been renamed "incentive salience" (Berridge and Robinson, 1998). However, it is by no means clear that this is due to any kind of change in the sensory-perceptual field itself; it could largely reflect a heightened attention and responsiveness to objects in the world, without and increases in sensory salience.

In laboratory animals, the emergence and energization of the SEEKING patterns has been observed after the following conditions:

- states of deprivation from limited access to resources that are essential for survival (such as food- or water-deprivation);
- novel environments or familiar environments containing novel objects;
- environments containing physical or social rewards as well as stimuli previously associated with such rewards;
- controllable mild stress: situations having moderately aversive effects that can be avoided using efficacious coping strategies;
- injections or intake of moderate dose of drugs of abuse (psychostimulants, opioids, alcohol, THC, nicotine) either peripherally or directly within-brain areas belonging to the SEEKING system;
- electrostimulation of brain areas innervated by the medial forebrain bundle (MFB).

The manifestation of the primary-process SEEKING emotional state, carried out by the ancient LH-MFB situated subcortical processes, give rise to characteristic energized-euphoric feelings of desire which accompany many animal and human appetitive activities, whether unconditional or conditional. Recent human data have demonstrated that the SEEKING brain circuitry, as predicted, is involved in the emergence of a characteristic appetitive affective state, which may be described as "enthusiastic positive excitement" or "euphoria" (Drevets et al., 2001; Volkow and Swanson, 2003) and that do not resemble any kind of sensory pleasure (Heath, 1996; Panksepp et al., 1985). Moreover, vivid descriptions of evoked eagerness feelings and desire come from stimulation of the MFB and nucleus accumbens in humans (Coenen et al., 2009; Schlaepfer et al., 2008; also see Coenen et al., 2011). However, the activation of brain substrates for SEEKING can, under the right conditions - e.g., when the individual is hungry - also promote the hedonic pleasures that accompany consummatory behaviors (Berridge and Kringelbach, 2008; Sharot et al., 2009), but this may be a direct effect of the energy-homeostatic "drive" systems of the brain (Dube et al., 2010; Panksepp, 1974).

The presence of a positive affective state associated with SEEKING has been demonstrated in animals not only through self-stimulation reward but also with the "condition place preference" (CPP) paradigms (Carr and White, 1986; Ikemoto, 2003; Trowill and Hynek, 1970). Recent investigations in rats have also shown that the positive affective state related to the SEEKING disposition is manifested spontaneously by 50-kHz ultrasonic vocalization, through which animals communicate their appetitive social desires (Burgdorf and Panksepp, 2006). Animals do not make these sounds when actually consuming rewards. In sum, although we can not know whether animals are self-aware of their internally experienced primary-process emotional states, such as SEEKING, empirical evidence indicates that such an emotional urge is accompanied by a characteristic affective tone that influences the way organisms perceive their environment (CPP). Moreover, it is

also evident that mammals are able to communicate such affective value when interacting with conspecifics.

It may be questioned if the positive euphoric feelings associated with SEEKING are expressed in aversive contexts or mild stressful conditions that also activate SEEKING-type behavioral patterns. In such cases, it is possible that SEEKING acts decreasing the intensity of negative affects related to aversive contexts in order to sustain anticipatory representations of "safety" and to promote active coping strategies. In any event, the SEEKING disposition projects organisms forward, persistently, in space and time. Through learning, SEEKING arousal also facilitates the elaboration of secondary-process anticipatory states and higher-order "forethoughts" or positive cognitive expectancies (Panksepp, 1981a; Wise, 2005). The empowerment of the anticipatory cognitive schemata may also be related to goal-oriented attentive processes (animals become less distractible), and SEEKING energizes activity, and, with the aid of norepinephrine, may increased concentration and effort to achieve one's goals (Salamone et al., 2009).

2.2. SEEKING in learning

Although most studies have adopted a strictly mechanistic interpretation of molecular and cellular adaptive changes involved in the formation and consolidation of memories (Nestler, 2004; Huang et al., 2004; Centonze et al., 2001; Hyman and Malenka, 2001), abundant evidence indicates that reward-learning is sustained by the activation of a global appetitive state that we have called the SEEKING disposition.

We know that novel or unusual stimuli, which unconditionally activate sniffing and curiosity-exploratory behaviors (Clark and Trowill, 1971), can rapidly be associated with unconditioned stimuli in classical conditioning paradigms, and that overexposure without associated rewards tends to block conditioning (Rescorla and Wagner, 1972). This fact indicates that a preliminary activation of SEEKING by novelty facilitates associative learning, albeit it is empirically open whether it is essential for *all* types of associative learning. Moreover, spontaneous sniffing behaviors or 50-kHz vocalizations are exhibited by rats during fixed-interval delivery of rewards in conditioned learning (Burgdorf et al., 2000; Clark and Trowill, 1971; Panksepp, 1981a), and operant responses for rewarding brain stimulation and conventional rewards are typically preceded by some exploratory or investigative activity (Clark and Trowill, 1971; Ikemoto and Panksepp, 1994).

It is also relevant that conditioned stimuli can enhance instrumental responses also for unconditioned stimuli different from the ones with which the conditioned stimulus had previously been paired (Corbit and Balleine, 2005). Moreover, environments associated with food-rewards enhance the effects of amphetamine (a SEEKING facilitator) on locomotor activity, as do environments previously associated with amphetamine (Yetnikoff and Arvanitogiannis, 2005). In these two cases, the behavioral effects of environmental stimuli do not depend on direct stimulus-response associations, since these associations have never been previously temporally paired. Accordingly, we may conclude that a heightened exploratory-SEEKING urge has been internally associated with the environmental stimuli, and is potentiated whenever an animal is returned to similar environments.

Behavioral neuroscience studies have indeed demonstrated that the activation of SEEKING by external stimuli is a prerequisite for their effects as rewards in classical and operant conditioning paradigms (Alcaro et al., 2007). For us, the most fascinating aspect of reward is that it can strictly be a within-brain emotional-hedonic process, and not one that is critically dependent on externalsensory, peripheral bodily rewards. It is something that can be considered to be 'intrapsychic' – an evolved tool for living that allows animals to become engaged with a large variety of survival pursuits. In our view, the activation of the SEEKING disposition favours attentive functions in the acquisition phase as well as the recollection of past events in the recovery phase of memory retrievals. Therefore, the SEEKING disposition is like some kind of "affective glue" binding together perceptual, motor, and cognitive representations into unified intentional sequences that may be recovered and further re-activated by memories of sensory rewards. In other words the mechanisms of "reinforcement" may be fundamentally affective in the brain.

2.3. SEEKING in evolution

The presence of an inbuilt within-brain SEEKING drive has been evident in the study of diverse animal classes, such as reptiles (Molina-Borja and Gómez-Soutullo, 1989), mammals (Panksepp, 1981a), birds (Fidler et al., 2007), fishes (Dubuc et al., 2008), and amphibians (Patton and Grobstein, 1998). Some preliminary findings have also indicated that invertebrates posses a rudimental neural system responsible for exploration and SEEKING (Gray et al., 2005; Tinette et al., 2007). Its widespread presence in the animal kingdom indicates that SEEKING is a fundamental emotional urge with very old evolutionary origin. Interestingly, however, the behavioral patterns through which SEEKING is expressed have remained substantially the same in all vertebrate species: forward locomotion, orienting movements and sniffing, or other equivalent sensorial investigative patterns, for instance antennae movements in crayfish (Alcaro et al., 2011).

One global function of such an appetitive disposition is to actively obtain information from the external environment, integrating it with basic drives reflected in various homeostatic-visceral detection systems, and to generate actions for obtaining resources, while avoiding potential dangers. Such fundamental emotional processes may have helped guide the evolution of many higher brain functions, from aspects of memory formation to higher cognitive activities. The expression of SEEKING within the cognitive domain may then eventually exert downward inhibitory influence over the activating power of external stimuli, constraining organismic appetitive activity to become intrinsically more focussed and habitual (i.e., when new learning is translated into habit-structures in the dorsal striatum) on the one hand, and more flexible on the other (i.e., through higher frontal executive functions facilitated by working-memory). However, those higher functions continued to be linked critically to earlier primaryprocess emotional functions, especially during early development, so that the lower psycho-behavioral and neurobiological processes of the ancestral SEEKING states preside over higher cognitive strategies of mature organisms (for a discussion of such nested hierarchies, see Northoff et al., 2011).

An important neuro-evolutionary aspect concerns the expression of SEEKING within the cortical-subcortical midline structures conceptualized as the "Core-Self" (Panksepp and Northoff, 2009), and the way the constituent organismic coherence integrating midline brain systems controls all basic emotional dispositions in accordance with internal visceral states and with past experiences. It is not possible here to deepen this complex argument. We just mention that SEEKING is an essential function of the Core-Self, conveying internal excitation into exploratory and approach patterns directed towards the external world (see Section 3), and then permitting the "externalization" (or "objectification") of internal needs. However, although a profound functional similarity exists in the primary-process expression of SEEKING in all mammalian species, many differences emerge in the secondaryand tertiary-process manifestations, especially in remarkably wellcerebrated animals such as humans. Indeed, our sophisticated working-memory and complex self-reflective capacity, related to the growth of prefrontal lobes along with the capacity for symbolic thinking, permit the channeling of SEEKING not only towards external objects of perception, but also towards internalized mental representations of subjective environments (promoting human creativity). Therefore, in humans, the SEEKING disposition may be organized around objects that are not directly perceivable to others and expressed through behavioral and cognitive activities that are much more complex than those found in other species. In such internalized SEEKING functions, only an attitude of empathic and attentive focus on the inner psychological world may help us understand the psychiatrically important vicissitudes of SEEKING urges that transpire in other people (especially those who are floridly psychotic), which becomes an essential component of psychotherapy.

3. Neurobiology of SEEKING

The neuro-architecture of the SEEKING system is highly conserved in evolution, with some general functional plans shared across all vertebrates, and perhaps invertebrates (see Huber et al., 2011). The simplicity of their nervous system makes invertebrates good candidates for studying the very basic neural architecture of SEEKING. For example, abundant progress in that direction has been done for worms *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Gray et al., 2005; Rankin et al., 2009), and for crayfish (Mellon, 2000; Sullivan and Beltz, 2005). In general, the invertebrate SEEKING system is characterized by close connections between neurons involved in sensory information processing, especially in the olfactory domain, and neurons involved in the promotion of motor patterns directed towards exploration and approach. Within such circuit, DA transmission seems to still act as an essential modulator capable of increasing appetitive drive and the incentive salience of external stimuli (Hills et al., 2004).

Also in mammals the SEEKING disposition is promoted by DA transmission within intermediary "associative" subcortical neural areas connecting sensory and motor processing. Most such areas are part of the "olfactory-limbic lobe", where the affective value of external stimuli is translated into intentional behavioral patterns (Mogenson et al., 1980). As shown later, the ML-DA system of mammals connects midbrain and forebrain nuclei involved in the basic expression of the ancestral SEEKING urge with more recently evolved forebrain areas where internally generated drives are elaborated in accordance with perceptual, cognitive and visceral information. The ML-DA system is then a neurochemical bridge through which the very basic SEEKING patterns are transformed, via learning, into larger and more complex SEEKING neurodynamic patterns (Fig. 2).

3.1. Neuroanatomy

The discovery of ESSB by Olds and Milner (1954) represented the first step in the recognition of the neuronatomy of SEEKING. ESSB studies led to the knowledge of several brain areas whose activation has rewarding effects, since animal tend to repeat operant behaviors (e.g. lever pressing) that promote a subtle but dynamic form of within-brain rewarding feelings. When stimulation parameters are adequately arranged, rats easily respond more than 100 times per minute, commonly responding more than they need to get all rewards, and maintaining such response rates for hours until the point of physical exhaustion (Olds, 1958). Rats involved in ESSB may neglect essential biological needs, starving to death or ignoring aversive shocks under special testing conditions (Routtenberg and Lindy, 1965; Valenstein and Beer, 1962).

The interpretation of ESSB has been controversial from the beginning. Initially it was assumed that electrical stimulation was inducing a kind of satisfaction "pleasure" typically associated



ACC

PI

DP

Higher

Forebrain

RS

SEEKING drive (see Section 3.3). The figure then summarizes all neural components involved in the neuroanatomical, neurochemical and neurodynamic aspects of SEEKING. Abbreviations: ACC, anterior cingulated cortex; AcC, nucleus accumbens core; AcS, nucleus accumbens shell; AHN, anterior hypothalamic nucleus; AL, agranular insular cortex; AVT, anteroventral thalamus; BLA, basolateral amygdale; BNST, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis; CeA, central amygdala; DG, dentate gyrus; dHipp, dorsal hippocampus; DMH, dorsomedial hypothalamus; DP, dorsal peduncular cortex; DR, dorsal raphe; DS, dorsal striatum; GP, globus pallidum; HAB, habenula: IL, infralimbic cortex: LH, lateral hypothalamus: LS, lateral septum: IVP. lateral ventral pallidum; MDT, mediodorsal thalamus; MOTOR, motor cortex; MR, medial raphe; MS, medial septum, mVP, medioventral pallidum; O, orbital area; OT, olfactory tubercle; PAG, periacqueductal gray; Pir, piriform cortex; PL, prelimbic cortex; RMTg, rostromedial tegmental nucleus; RS, retrosplenial cortex; SNc, substantia nigra pars compacta; SNr, substantia nigra pars reticulate; SUB, subiculum; SUM, supramammillary nucleus; VLT, ventrolateral thalamus; VMH, ventromedial hypothalamus; VTA, ventral tegmental area.

with human consummatory behaviors (Olds, 1956; Wise, 1978). However, it was also recognized that brain stimulation induced behavioral arousals, promoted abundant exploratory behaviors and approach if there were interesting things in the environment, and also, with time, to stable consummatory patterns, such as drinking, feeding, gnawing and predation (Gallistel, 1974; Glickman and Schiff, 1967; Panksepp, 1981a, 1982; Trowill et al., 1969; Valenstein et al., 1969). Therefore, it was suggested that ESSB fosters a general disposition to approach environmental stimuli, which may constitute the core of the incentive concept as used in psychology (Glickman and Schiff, 1967; Trowill et al., 1969). Gradually, it became widely accepted that the reward associated with ESSB experiments should have something to do with brain appetitive and incentive states rather than with sensory pleasurerewards (Berridge and Robinson, 1998; Blackburn et al., 1987). Along very similar lines, in our work, the function of the brain system activated in ESSB was conceived to be an emotional anticipatory EXPECTANCY sensory-motor process (Panksepp, 1981a, 1982, 1992, 1996), that we have later called SEEKING (Alcaro et al., 2007; Ikemoto and Panksepp, 1999; Panksepp, 1996, 1998; Panksepp and Moskal, 2008).

This not to say that all forms of ESSB reflect the same type of reward process; discrimination studies, using two sites along this system, suggested that there are, at the very least, two psychologically distinguishable self-stimulation related reward processes in the brain (Stutz et al., 1974), the septal sites, involved more in sexual pleasure, while LH–MFB trajectory sites were more involved in incentive motivation (Heath, 1996; Panksepp, 1981, 1985) and mediate the most effective substrate for robust and persistent self-stimulation at sites that unconditionally promote foraging (Olds and Olds, 1963; Olds and Peretz, 1960; Phillips and Mogenson, 1969; Routtenberg and Malsbury, 1969; Routtenberg and Sloan, 1972). Lesion studies demonstrated that no single structure is necessary to support ESSB and that reward is presumably processed by a network of multiple brain regions widely interconnected (Ikemoto, 2010; Ikemoto and Panksepp, 1994).

Subsequent experiments with intracranial drug selfadministration procedures permitted more precise characterization of the LH–MFB brain regions involved in reward processes and appetitive functions, and an identification of neurochemistries quite directly involved in mediating reward (Ikemoto and Wise, 2004; Ikemoto, 2010). The set of structures promoting approach and euphoric appetitive eagerness are the ventral tegmental area (VTA), the lateral hypothalamus (LH), the supramammillary nucleus of the hypothalamus (SUM), the olfactory tubercle (OT), the VS/Nacc, and the mpFC (Fig. 1) (Panksepp, 1981; Wauquier and Rolls, 1976).

It has been supposed that such a vast and psychologically homogenous neural network (Stutz et al., 1974), that has been conceptualized very recently with a classic 'behavioral approach' concept (Ikemoto, 2010). We would suggest that this is insufficient to capture the overall integrative function of this system, and still recommend that SEEKING provides the complexity of dispositions that this system actually mediates. For instance, SEEKING refers not only to a variety of overt exploratory-foraging behaviors but also to an emotional disposition that possesses a subjectively experienced affective tone, and an intrinsic intentional structure that may be expressed at a non-motor cognitive level.

3.2. Neurochemistry: the ML-DA system

After the discovery of EBBS, when ascending dopamine systems were characterized (Ungerstedt, 1971) it rapidly became evident that the ML-DA system was an essential component for the behavioral activation and some of the rewarding effects of MFB stimulation (Wise, 2008; Wise and Rompre, 1989). Drug administration, microinjections and lesion studies, all confirmed that ML-DA transmission influence the rewarding properties of selfstimulation (Wise, 1996), although opioids had both interactive and independent rewarding effects. It has also been demonstrated that animals tend to self-administer compounds that increase DA levels in ML areas (see Alcaro et al., 2007 and Ikemoto, 2010 for reviews). In general, manipulations that stimulate DA transmission within the VS/Nacc, the ventral pallidum (VP), the OT and, partially, the prefrontal cortex (pFC), produced rewarding effects, as measured with either self-administration or conditioned place preference procedures, or simply the distinct behavioral activating effects of exploration, foraging and approach. Although intracranial self-administration studies have importantly revealed the role of many other neurochemicals different from DA in brain reward and approach functions (Ikemoto, 2010), the ML-DA system remains the

principal neurochemical that seem involved in the whole trajectory of the SEEKING system.

It has been empirically demonstrated that DA is released in two different modalities, called "tonic" and "phasic" DA transmission (Grace, 1991). Tonic transmission refers to a slow diffusion of small concentrations of DA in the extracellular space, outside the synaptic cleft, and it is related to regular firing of DA cells and to impulse independent release in terminal areas (Grace, 2000). On the contrary, phasic DA release follows bursting activity of VTA-DA neurons (Gonon, 1988; Goto et al., 2007), after which high levels of DA molecules are released into the synaptic cleft at up to millimolar concentration (Garris et al., 1994) and then rapidly removed via a re-uptake system (Floresco et al., 2003). Recent research has emphasized the role of phasic DA in the process of reward and appetitive arousal. Indeed, DA cell bursts and phasic DA release occur in presence of unpredicted salient, novel, and rewarding stimuli as well as neutral stimuli predicting future rewards (Horvitz, 2000; Schultz et al., 1997; Wightman and Robinson, 2002). Moreover, DA cell bursts are accompanied by orienting and approach movements directed towards specific cues (Bromberg-Martin and Hikosaka, 2009; Bromberg-Martin et al., 2010; Han et al., 1997). Also, ML cells fire and release DA during REM sleep (Lena et al., 2005), with complex participation in sleep-waking patterns (Monti and Monti, 2007).

From our perspective, phasic DA release may transiently activate SEEKING patterns in coincidence with specific cue- or context-dependent information, attributing to such information an incentive motivational, action-orienting effect. Despite the current popularity of a cognitive interpretation of VTA–DA activity in term of a "reward prediction-error signal" (Schultz and Dickinson, 2000), it is more likely that phasic DA release simply sparks off transient neural dynamics associated with SEEKING (see next paragraph). For example, in a recent experiment it was shown that phasic DA in VS/Nacc peaks just at the time of lever press for food reward and not in coincidence to predicting cues or reward delivery (Nakazato, 2005).

If phasic DA release may convey a transient SEEKING signal within-brain circuitries (Wightman and Robinson, 2002), tonic DA seems more related to the sustained activation of the SEEKING emotional state. Microdialysis studies indicated that tonic ML-DA concentrations increase during the exploration of novel stimuli (De Leonibus et al., 2006), during reward-SEEKING (Damsma et al., 1992; Malkesman et al., 2010) as well as during consummatory behaviors (Damsma et al., 1992; Sahr et al., 2008). Moreover, stressful situations increase tonic DA levels only in case of active coping, but not when animal give up searching for safe havens (Cabib and Puglisi-Allegra, 1996; Imperato et al., 1993; Mangiavacchi et al., 2001; Pruessner et al., 2004; Puglisi-Allegra et al., 1991; Ventura et al., 2002).

Based on the analysis of complex feedbacks between tonic and phasic DA transmission, we have advanced the hypothesis that tonic DA levels usually strengthen the internal motivational signalto-noise ratio in neural networks, increasing the efficacy of phasic DA in promoting SEEKING signals (Alcaro et al., 2007). If tonic DA levels are low, phasic DA events are generally too weak in activating the SEEKING neurodynamics, and the organism tends to retire from an active engagement with the environment. To the contrary, excessive tonic DA levels strengthen the power of DA signals in such a way that SEEKING is repetitively expressed without any relation to specific environmental contexts or events. Only moderately high tonic DA levels are then sufficient to promote SEEKING patterns that are guided by sensorial and cognitive representations of the external environment. Incidentally, the control by DA of cognitive functions in prefrontal cortical areas has been found to follow an inverted-U-shaped profile, with too little or too much DA being detrimental for working-memory (Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000).

Due to the complexity of feedback regulators between tonic and phasic DA transmission, the expression of SEEKING is not only a factor of quantity (that is how much the disposition is active in ML circuits), but also a factor of organism-environment tuning. In our opinion, the experienced affective component is maximally active when SEEKING is open to the modulation of perceptual and cognitive representations of the external environment. In such cases, the emotion is behaviorally expressed in explorative and approach movements towards objects, and perceived as positive excitement. To the contrary, when the SEEKING neural dynamics reverberate in a closed way, they promote compulsive actions and positive exploratory-investigatory affects are substituted by a sense of urgency, which can become maladaptive, hence pathological.

A key issue for any hypothesis is to explain how DA transmission may promote the emergence of the designated behaviors at brain network levels - in this case, the SEEKING disposition. We know that ML-DA cell bodies originate in mesencephalic cell groups, mainly located in the A10/VTA, and their axons project largely to anterior forebrain structures, modulating the activity of re-entrant circuits extending between the basal forebrain/basal ganglia (BG) and the cortical mantle, called BG-thalamo-cortical (BG-T-C) circuits (Alexander et al., 1986; Kalivas et al., 1999; Ungerstedt, 1971). Although many studies have investigated the effects of DA release within terminal brain regions by focussing on molecular or cellular adaptations, and single-cell electrophysiological responses (e.g., Greengard, 2001; Nicola and Deadwyler, 2000), a clear understanding of behavioral and psychological functions of ML-DA transmission require large-scale network analyses of the brain that very few studies have conducted.

3.3. Neurodynamics

Wide scale electrophysiological neurodynamic studies will eventually be needed to envision a global system like SEEKING in action. Unfortunately, only modest progress has been made with such approaches. However, some recent studies have started exploring how DA modulates global-field dynamics and influences oscillatory patterns within projection areas. Although most were originally focused on the role of nigrostriatal DA transmission in Parkinsonian disease (Brown, 2003; Lee et al., 2004; Magill et al., 2004), some result may also been extended to the role of ML-DA transmission under normal behavioral conditions (Berke, 2009; Cohen et al., 2009; Pennartz et al., 2009). In sum, these findings demonstrated that DA modulates oscillatory patterns emerging in BG-T-C circuits and other regions of the anterior limbic brain. The most robust effect of DA release is a decrease in power and coherence of beta-frequency oscillations (~15 Hz) (Brown, 2003; Dejean et al., 2008; Hammond et al., 2007) and of cortical-derived low frequency oscillations (~1 Hz) in the entire BG-T-C network (Galati et al., 2010; Tseng et al., 2001). Interestingly, this desynchronization effect is related to the facilitation of movement initiation and/or execution (Cassidy et al., 2002; Courtemanche et al., 2003; Kuhn et al., 2004; Rivlin-Etzion et al., 2006; Sharott et al., 2005).

It has also been shown that DA promotes transient highfrequency oscillations in the gamma band (>30 Hz) (Berke, 2009; Brown, 2003; Demiralp et al., 2007; López-Azcárate et al., 2010). Interestingly, gamma rhythms are present in waking, REM sleep (Franken et al., 1994) and during spontaneous active behaviors (Maloney et al., 1997) and they seems to have an important function in temporal organization of cognitive, perceptual and motor functions (see Fries et al., 2007 for a review). Some authors suggested that gamma rhythms are involved in sensory awareness and consciousness (Engel and Singer, 2001; Tononi et al., 1998), while others in the emergence of intentional brain states (Freeman, 2003). We actually ignore how gamma oscillatory waves are exactly generated in neural networks and how DA transmission may favour their expression. However, it has been shown that GABA inhibitory neural networks have an intrinsic capacity to generate highfrequency oscillations (Llinás, 2001; Steriade, 1996). More recent evidences also suggest that gamma synchronization is locally promoted by GABA fast-spiking neural activity either in cortical or in striatal areas (Cardin et al., 2009; Kopell and Ermentrout, 2004). Exciting fast-spiking interneurons (Bracci et al., 2002) and facilitating the emergence of their sequential activity patterns in inhibitory networks (Stewart and Plenz, 2006), DA may then promote transient synchrony in the gamma band which is locally generated and eventually communicated to distant areas.

Recent investigations focusing more specifically on DA transmission in the striatum, the principal input structure of BG, revealed that gamma rhythms are related to movement initiation in dorsal striatal areas (Masimore et al., 2005) and with decision-making and reward functions in VS/Nacc areas (Cohen et al., 2009; van der Meer and Redish, 2009). With a sophisticated combination of local field potentials, single-unit and behavioral analyses, it has been shown that ~80 Hz gamma oscillations in VS/Nacc are temporally related mostly to the emission of approach movements and also, to a minor extent, with reward delivery and consummatory behaviors (Kalenscher et al., 2010). Moreover, many single neurons phase-locked their discharge patterns to gamma waves. It was also demonstrated that gamma oscillations were specifically expressed when the animal was moving towards a potential reward site and not when it was moving in other directions. The authors suggested that gamma rhythmicity was not a function of just movements, but "of cognitive aspects of reward-seeking behavior" (Kalenscher et al., 2010, p. 1669). However, in our view, cognitive processes, are only one "slice of the pie", and gamma oscillations may be more globally viewed as the overall emotional-motivational neurodynamics through which the SEEKING disposition is expressed, accompanied by a feeling of excitement/eurphoria (not 'pleasure') that is evolutionarily designed to achieve a diversity of useful outcomes. We think that gamma rhythms in ventral BG are the "SEEKING wave packets", binding together cognitive, perceptual, motor and affective visceral processes into single dynamic entity. Within such hypothesized SEEKING waves, perhaps related to bursts of sniffing which highlight anticipatory states in rodents (Panksepp, 1981, 1998), some specific neurodynamic sequences related to explorative and approach movements are somehow released in accordance with specific affective-sensorial and cognitive representations (Alcaro et al., 2007).

The VS/Nacc is currently accepted as a convergence node for diverse inputs coming from distinct limbic areas involved in different perceptual, cognitive and affective aspects of goal-directed activities. Indeed, together with the piriform cortex and the olfactory bulb, the VS/Nacc forms an olfactory network producing coherent 50-70 Hz oscillations (Berke, 2009), perhaps involved in sensorial aspects of SEEKING, and in the discrimination/recognition of a reward site (Kalenscher et al., 2010). On the other hand, together with the pFC, the Nacc forms a SEEKING motor network that oscillates at 70-100 Hz and generates patterns such as exploratory locomotor activity accompanied usually by sniffing (Berke, 2009). A third network is instead constituted by Nacc and hippocampus, characterized by the superimposition of theta and gamma rhythms and mainly involved in spatial navigation and decision-making about movement directions (Lansink et al., 2009; Tort et al., 2008). Therefore, sensorial/cue-information (from pyriform cortex and amygdala), spatial/contextual information (from hippocampus), and internal-state information (from the anterior cingulate cortex and orbitofrontal cortex) converge in VS/Nacc (especially the Nacc shell) (Fig. 3): at this point of neural functioning, DA-promoted gamma rhythms may incorporate incoming



Fig. 3. Brain circuitries for the SEEKING wave packets. The presence of highfrequency gamma oscillations associated with active exploration, approach and goal-directed actions have been found in the Nacc and in limbic structures that project to the Nacc, such as the ACC, the Pir and the Hipp. From the Nacc, the SEEKING wave packets diffuse across BG-T-C circuits, passing through the limbic, the associative and the motor loop. Such ventromedial–dorsolateral gradient of diffusion is possible thanks to the interconnections between BG areas and the VTA/SN DA system that show a spiralling functional organization. Abbreviations: ACC, anterior cingulated cortex; AVT, anteroventral thalamus; BG-T-C, basal gangliathalamo-cortical; CN, caudate nucleus; dlpFC, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; DP, dorsal pallidum; Hipp, hippocampus; LP, lateral pallidum; MDT, mediodorsal thalamus; mpFC, medial prefrontal cortex; Nacc, nucleus accumbens; Pir, piriform cortex; pMC, premotor cortex; Put, putamen; SNc, substantia nigra pars compacta; SNr, substantia nigra pars reticulate; VLT, ventrolateral thalamus; VP, ventral pallidum; VTA, ventral tegmental area.

information within the SEEKING wave packets which already posses an intrinsic/instinctual affective-action and incipient intentional (intentions-in-action) structure.

Neuroanatomical studies have indicated the VS/Nacc as an important "boundary area" connecting the limbic brain (ACC, mpFC, hippocampus, amygdale) to dorsolateral motor structures (dorsolateral pFC, dorsolateral BG, motor cortex). For this reason, the VS/Nacc has been defined an "interface between limbic and motor system" where internal "motivation are translated into action" (Mogenson et al., 1980). From our perspective, this role may be due to the diffusion in BG-T-C circuits of the SEEKING neurodynamics formed in VS/Nacc and related limbic structures.

Interestingly, the interconnections between BG areas and the ML-DA system show a spiralling functional organization, with DA neurons acting as an intermediary of a ventromedial-dorsolateral gradient that goes from the limbic to the associative to the motor loop of such circuits (Haber et al., 2000; Joel and Weiner, 2000). Thus the dorsal striatum is ideally situated to generate behavioral habit structures, while no longer having robust reward attributes as does the ventral striatum. Therefore, DA transmission favours the emergence of the SEEKING wave packets in the limbic brain, but it may also promote passage of that in BG-T-C circuits, to limbic, associative and motor loops (Fig. 3). In such a way, limbic brain activation states are translated within the frontal cortex into higher-order intentional patterns aimed at exploring, seeking and approaching new environmental reward opportunities, or available for rapid utilization of learned cognitive and motor sequences that already have solidified goal-directed habit functions. Interestingly, recent studies have revealed that the DA projections to the VS/Nacc participate in various distinct sub-functions of the overall SEEKING urge: the medial part of DA projections directed to the Nacc shell subterritories are important for integrating novel reward opportunities, while the lateral portions directed to the Nacc core and dorsal striatum are more for the actual execution of conditioned responses, and solidifying new behavior patterns into habitual modes of behavior, that may simply require properly directed approach behaviors (Ikemoto, 2010). In sum, this evidence suggests that the ventromedial shell parts of ML-DA system is more concerned with the unconditioned emotional aspects of SEEKING, when affective intensity is high, while the dorsolateral parts are more involved with the conditioned learned expression of SEEKING, when unconscious habits take over behavioral control.

4. The SEEKING disposition and psychiatric diseases

Within the affective neuroethological perspective we advocate here, most psychiatric disorders are emotional-affective diseases, with observable dysfunctional neural processes that express and modulate basic emotional drives. Psychiatric diseases may emerge from maladaptive communications and emerging imbalances between higher forebrain areas involved in complex representation of our interpersonal world and basic emotional operating system located in ancient subcortical regions, especially when lower affective processes prevail over gradually established higher cognitive function.

Experimental and clinical evidences suggest that the SEEKING brain system is differentially involved in various psychiatric diseases. For example, there is abundant evidence for abnormal ML-DA functioning in schizophrenia (Carlsson, 1978; Meltzer and Stahl, 1976; Snyder, 1972), addiction (Koob, 1992; Wise and Bozarth, 1987), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Levy, 1991; Oades, 1987), and depression (Nestler and Carlezon, 2006; Willner, 1983a,b). Recent neurophysiological studies have also revealed disturbed gamma oscillatory activity in the anterior forebrain in some of the above-mentioned diseases. For example, abnormal neural oscillations and synchrony in the gamma and beta range have been found in schizophrenic patients (Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010). Here, we will focus on the potential role of imbalanced SEEKING dispositions in two important and often related pathologies, depression and addiction, focusing on all the levels of analysis discussed above (also see the contribution by Zellner et al., 2011).

4.1. Depression

In the DSM-IV, two core symptoms characterizing Major Depressive Disorders are "anhedonia", that is defined as a state of reduced interest for pleasurable activities, and "helplessness" or "hopelessness", that are defined as a sense of impotence and of the inevitability of feeling one's own despair. Such symptoms have been replicated in animal models. Some of them consist in placing animals under uncontrollable negative situations while depression is measured as a 'giving up' resulting in a failure to cope (helplessness) (Porsolt, 2000; Henn et al., 1985; Overmier and Seligman, 1967). In other models, depression is assessed as a reduced motivation to seek rewards (anhedonia), based on the disturbances animals show in responding for ESSB or for exploring new environments (Anisman and Matheson, 2005; Bevins and Besheer, 2005; Nestler and Carlezon, 2006; Overstreet, 1993; Willner et al., 1992; Zacharko and Anisman, 1991).

Although depression is a very complex disease, with many interacting etiologic factors, we would like to present a simplified model of such pathology based on the analysis of a single emotional factor. In our view, helplessness and anhedonia may be related to a deficiency in the SEEKING emotional disposition, that is normally aroused when animals search for sensory rewards as well as for more secure environmental conditions ("safety"). Under this simplified view, we look at depression as a state of reduced engagement with all aspects of the world, due to an endogenous hypo-functionality of the SEEKING network or to an inhibition of its activity by other brain circuits, such as those involved in processing negative emotions (GRIEF/Separation–Distress, FEAR or RAGE) (Panksepp, 2011b; Panksepp and Watt, 2011; Watt and Panksepp, 2009). We are conscious that the "SEEKING deficiency" may be caused or exacerbated by specific cognitive evaluations, previous learning, homeostatic self-regulatory adaptations and many other processes not considered in this work. However, we think that independently from other underlying mechanisms, depression is a state generally characterized by reduced SEEKING at the behavioral, neurobiological and psychological levels.

In accord with our hypothesis, animal models of depression show reduced metabolic activity of the SEEKING network in appetitive aversive or resting-state conditions (for overview, see Harro et al., 2011; Kanarik et al., 2010). Indeed, Fos immunohistochemistry studies showed that depressed mice are characterized by marked reductions in neural activity stimulated by stress or novel environments in the VS/Nacc, the anterior piriform cortex (PiCx), the anterior and posterior cingulate gyrus (ACC, PCC), the dorsomedial and dorsolateral pFC, the secondary motor cortex (Stone et al., 2006, 2007, 2008). In rats, chronic stress procedures that induce depression led to decreased Fos-immunoreactivity in the Nacc after sucrose injection (Grippo et al., 2004). Moreover, congenitally helpless rats present reduced metabolic activity in the ventral tegmental area (VTA), the ventral pallidum (VP), the dorsal basal ganglia (BG), the lateral and medial septal nuclei, and the cingulate and frontal cortex (Shumake and Gonzalez-Lima, 2003; Shumake et al., 2003). Finally, in a recent meta-analysis study, we have demonstrated that depressive animals show a resting-state metabolic hyperactivity in several subcortical brain structures that are known to exert an inhibition over the SEEKING network, such as the PAG, the MR and DR, and the Hab (Alcaro et al., 2010).

It has also been suggested that "anhedonia and amotivation, symptoms prominent in depressive patients, are mainly governed by DA neurotransmission in reward and motivation circuits" (Nader et al., 1997). Animal studies support the idea that a deficit in DA transmission, especially in the ML pathway, is responsible for both helplessness and anhedonia (Di Chiara et al., 1999; Dunlop and Nemeroff, 2007; Nestler and Carlezon, 2006). For example, chronic stress and other procedures that induce behavioral depression cause a parallel dysregulation of ML-DA transmission and DA receptor functionality (Cyr et al., 2001; Daftary et al., 2009; Friedman et al., 2007; Imperato et al., 1993; Nestler and Carlezon, 2006; Papp et al., 1994; Willner, 1983a,b; Yadid et al., 2001). Moreover, animals genetically vulnerable to depression show a deficit in ML-DA transmission, such as decreased extracellular DA levels in the Nacc (Dremencov et al., 2005; Zangen et al., 2001), decreased expression of DA transporter protein (DAT) in several ML regions (Jiao et al., 2003), and reduced metabolism in the VTA (Shumake et al., 2003). Finally, mutant mice lacking a protein that regulates the activity of D2 receptors (Par-4) showed predisposition to depressive behaviors (Park et al., 2005).

Although the main antidepressant drugs act at the level of the serotoninergic and noradrenergic systems, adaptations at the levels of the ML-DA system seem to constitute the final pathway mediating their therapeutic effects. Indeed, various efficacious antidepressant therapies induce functional re-organization of the ML system, increasing DA transmission in the Nacc (Ichikawa and Meltzer, 1995; Keck et al., 2002; Pallis et al., 2001; Ventura et al., 2002; Zangen and Hyodo, 2002), and the functionality of D2-like receptors (Gershon et al., 2007; Spyraki and Fibiger, 1981). Acute administration of psychostimulants (cocaine and amphetamine) enhances synaptic DA transmission and reduces depressive states in animals, increasing the attempts to cope with stress and the motivation for brain stimulation reward (Alcaro et al., 2002; Steru et al., 1985; Wise, 1996). On the other hand, withdrawal from chronic psychostimulant exposure depletes brain DA, which promotes depressive states (Barr and Markou, 2005; Kitanaka et al., 2008; Paterson and Markou, 2007).

It has also been shown that DA agonists or other drugs that favours DA transmission may have antidepressant effects (Anisman et al., 1979a; Basso et al., 2005; Fu et al., 2006; Willner, 1997; Yamada et al., 2004), while DA antagonistic drugs have depressiveinducing effects (Anisman et al., 1979b; Cheeta et al., 1994; Wise, 1978). Finally, recent studies showed that complex molecular adaptations involving CREB activity in the Nacc (see Nestler and Carlezon, 2006 for a review) and the release of dynorphin along the meso-accumbens pathway promote depressive behaviors in rodents (Mu et al., 2011).

We close this section by revisiting the neurodynamic issues addressed earlier. Although relevant data is currently modest, indirect evidence suggests that depression is characterized by reduced anterior forebrain gamma oscillatory waves, that we have previously defined as the "SEEKING wave packets". For example, parkinsonian patients suffer from depression and are characterized by absence of gamma waves in BG-T-C circuits (Brown, 2003). Moreover, transcranial magnetic stimulation treatment, a modestly effective antidepressant therapy, increases gamma oscillations in pFC (Barr et al., 2009). Finally, high-frequency (<100 Hz) deep brain stimulation (DBS) of ACC (Cg25) and the Nacc shell region has substantial antidepressant effects (Bewernick et al., 2010; Mayberg et al., 2005; Schlaepfer et al., 2008) and increases gamma oscillatory activity in the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and mediodorsal thalamus (MD) (McCracken and Grace, 2009). We would take these preliminary results to suggest the hypothesis that depression may be related to reduced emergence and diffusion of the SEEKING wave packets into other brain regions, especially frontal and dorsal striatal regions, while effective antidepressant therapies may help restoring their normal expression in brain circuits. In this respect it may be interesting to see how the SEEKING wave packets synchronize with key unconditional indices of arousal of this system, including VTA-DA neuron bursting, investigatory sniffing bouts, and 50 kHz ultrasonics, which are controlled by mesolimbic dopamine and can be used to monitor the positive hedonic status of animals (Burgdorf et al., 2007; Panksepp, 1981, 2010a; Rossi and Panksepp, 1992, also see Burgdorf et al., 2011).

4.2. Addiction

Many current behavioral neuroscience studies consider drug addiction as a "pathological usurpation of the mechanism of reward-related learning" (Hyman, 2005). Consequently, addiction is at times treated pharmacologically or psychologically, in order to extinguish dysfunctional memories (Kaplan et al., 2011). However, such a view often fails to consider the role played by emotionalaffective processes in learning, and the critical importance of shifting affective states in the genesis of addictions (see Zellner et al., 2011). Indeed, we may be wise to consider that very often compulsive drug seeking may represent for addicts a most efficacious way to counteract the dominance of negative affective states (Koob and Le Moal, 2001). For instance in opiate addiction, excessive feelings of depressive psychological pain arise from separation to distress circuits (Panksepp, 1981b). Together with humans selfreport analyses, animal behavioral studies show that addiction is characterized by depression, anxiety and other negative affects, which become evident during withdrawal periods whether from drugs or other addictive habits (Koob and Le Moal, 2008; Panksepp et al., 2002).

Although such negative symptoms have been generally related to neural adaptations following chronic drug exposure, where compulsive addictive cycles have been established (Koob, 2009), several lines of evidence indicate that some neural and psychological anomalies may be present in susceptible individuals before the initiation of drug assumption, predisposing individuals to develop drug abuse as well as other forms of compulsions such as gambling and obsessive sexuality (Campbell et al., 2009; Khantzian, 2003; Koob and Volkow, 2010; Le Moal, 2009). For example, a hyperexcitability of the brain stress system may be observed not only in drug addicts but also in predisposed individuals (Panksepp, 2010b; Sinha, 2008), which may promote dopaminergic drive (Daftary et al., 2009). Therefore, we hypothesize, along with related work (Kassel, 2010), that drug addiction further strengthens an emotional liability already present before initiating chronic use. But what, beside feelings of social isolation and excessive stress, may such a liability reflect?

In accord with the focus of this review, we will propose that addicts are generally characterized by an abnormal expression of SEEKING. If depression is characterized by a general reduction of SEEKING urges, addiction may be described as a re-organization of such a weakened emotional disposition around specific and often dangerous environmentally driven activities. In our affective neuroethogical view, addiction is the result of an "emotional shrinkage", due to an ever increasing, and eventually exclusive recruitment of the SEEKING emotional disposition by memories of addictive rewards and desires to alleviate the dysphoria arising from drug withdrawal (Koob, 2009; Panksepp, 2010b). In some forms of addiction, especially in the first stages, the normal emotional aspects of SEEKING are still active, but come to be strictly circumscribed to specific contexts and activities. In other forms, especially in the later stages, the natural emotional attitude to SEEK various rewards is largely overwhelmed by the establishment of compulsive habits that have largely lost direct positive value and are repeated exclusively to calm an increased sense of psychological pain, anxiety and tension.

It is difficult to trace back all the psycho-behavioral and neurobiological features characterizing addiction through all the intervening stages, from initial predisposition to compulsive use and relapse episodes. In order to give a synthetic picture, we will focus mainly on those features that characterize addiction vulnerability, without considering the enormous amount of data about the effects of chronic drug exposure in the brain. In such a way, the results may be extended also to those forms of addiction that are not based on drug abuse, such as pathological gambling, compulsive shopping, binge eating, hypersexuality, and internet addiction.

Interestingly, animal models have revealed that addiction vulnerability is characterized by signs of increased responsiveness (sensitization) of the SEEKING disposition to certain environmental stimuli. For example, compared to controls, animals predisposed to develop addiction show higher locomotion, and exploration in novel environments, and they also demonstrate higher preference for novel environments (Dellu et al., 1996; Piazza et al., 1989; Rouge-Pont et al., 1993). These patterns suggest that vulnerable individuals may be characterized as "novelty seekers" or "sensation seekers" (Bardo et al., 1996), with enhanced activation of the SEEKING disposition to all unusual stimuli.

The increased responsiveness of the SEEKING system to novelty may be responsible for an increased conditioning power of environmental stimuli. Indeed, recent studies have indicated that animals predisposed to addiction show higher tendency to SEEK and approach cues previously associated with reward instead of the reward itself (Flagel et al., 2010). In turn, the higher responsiveness of the SEEKING disposition to conditioned stimuli may increase the secondary-reward value (incentive salience) of drugassociated cues and lead to the establishment of compulsive habits after some experience of drug intake. As underlined by the "incentive sensitization hypothesis", addiction is indeed sustained by an increased attractive power of certain environmental stimuli and behavioral activities (Robinson and Berridge, 1993).

The hyper-excitability of the SEEKING disposition in addiction has been demonstrated also at the neurochemical level. Increased DA release after novelty, drugs and drug-related cues has also been shown in animals vulnerable to addiction (Bradberry et al., 1991; Hooks et al., 1992; Piazza and Le Moal, 1996; Robinson and Berridge, 2000; Rouge-Pont et al., 1993; Zocchi et al., 1998). Moreover, rats selected for high responsiveness to psychostimulants and novelty present increased firing and bursting activity of the ML-DA system in basal conditions (Marinelli and White, 2000). Such "endogenous sensitization" has been explained by increased efficacy of synaptic signals connecting descending glutamatergic inputs to the VTA (Marinelli and White, 2000; Melis et al., 2009). However, doubts about the endogenous sensitization hypothesis has come from experiments showing that vulnerable rats have a slower restingstate rate of DA release and uptake in Nacc compared with normal rats (Chefer et al., 2003). Therefore, in such animals, increasing firing and bursting of DA neurons correlates with less rapid and robust ML-DA transmission in resting-state conditions, and the addictive cycles may further weaken the resting-state affective tone of the system, leading to the vicious cycle discussed by Koob (2009) and Khantzian (2003). Incidentally, the increased activity of DA neurons may be attributed to a deficiency in DA transmission, since DA blocks the spreading of top-down glutamatergic inputs and brakes the diffusion of cortical synchronized activity in BG and midbrain DA nuclei (Tseng et al., 2005; Wichmann and DeLong, 2003).

In accordance with findings of Chefer and collaborators, low basal levels of ML-DA have been found in individuals vulnerable to addiction or with a history of chronic drug use (Gardner, 1999; George et al., 1995; Misra and Pandey, 2003; Nestler, 1993; Parsons et al., 1991; Weiss et al., 1992). This deficiency would predispose towards anxiety and depression, isolating individuals from their social and other rewarding environments, thereby preventing them from regulating their internal appetitive eagerness states through diverse open relationships with the external world. Therefore, the "self-medication hypothesis" (Markou et al., 1998; Khantzian, 2003) and the "reward deficiency hypothesis" (Comings and Blum, 2000) have interpreted addiction as attempts of selfregulating an endogenous hypoactive ML-DA system, which may be a key activator of the SEEKING disposition within forebrain.

An essential issue in addiction research is to integrate the evidence of an endogenous hypoactive ML-DA/SEEKING system with experimental results showing its enhanced responsiveness to some stimuli such as novelty, conditioned cue and drugs of abuse. In this context, addiction vulnerability may be expressed by a substantial shift in the way ML-DA activity is regulated. Specifically, we think that an endogenous deficiency of the ML-DA system is compensated, during development (adolescence), by increased excitatory drives comings from pFC and other higher forebrain structures. The hyper-excitability of the ML-DA system to glutamatergic input descending onto the VTA would cause increased DA release after environmental stimuli which are usually processed by higher forebrain structures, such as novelty and conditioned cues, predisposing individuals to be highly responsive to exogenous stimuli. In such a way, the bottom-up tonic activation of SEEK-ING by internal homeostatic drives, yielding endogenous arousal, may give way to exogenous top-down activation of the system by cortical areas involved in processing external cues.

In our view, such a predisposition is present during the initial stages of addiction, but is further exacerbated after chronic drug use, by the acquisition of specific contextual memories that stimulate the SEEKING circuit. How does all this relate to the aforementioned neurodynamic considerations discussed earlier? Obviously, it would be extremely relevant to know how addictions are expressed in term of the underlying network neurodynamics. Unfortunately, direct measures of oscillatory patterns in the brain of addicts are sparse, and they have almost exclusively investigated in terms of the effects of chronic drug intake on brain activity. Interestingly, opioid and nicotine dependence are expressed by increases in functional synchronization of cortically derived rhythms (Domino, 2003; Fingelkurts et al., 2007). Moreover, stimulus-evoked cravings were accompanied by increased beta oscillatory waves in frontal regions of both cigarette smokers (Knott et al., 2008) and cocaine users (Reid et al., 2003), indicating intense cortical activation by such stimuli.

However, among the most important findings are those concerning the therapeutic effects of DBS. It has been recognized that DBS of Nacc may be efficacious in the treatment of depression (Schlaepfer et al., 2008), obsessive–compulsive disorders (Sturm et al., 2003) and alcohol addiction (Heinze et al., 2009) and that DBS of the Nacc shell attenuates cocaine priming–induced reinstatement of drug seeking in rats (Vassoler et al., 2008). Since DBS in the Nacc promotes gamma oscillations in different limbic areas (McCracken and Grace, 2009), we suspect that its therapeutic and protective effects depend on the facilitation of internal-generated SEEKING affects which contrast with exogenous cue evoked activations coming from higher forebrain areas. Thus, by establishing a healthier affective tone in the SEEKING system, the person may more easily free themselves from the bondage of conditioned external amplifiers of addictive urges.

4.3. Direct measures of affective states in depression and addiction animal models

We have discussed some of the SEEKING-linked neural underpinnings of depression and addictions, which is synergistic with various current behavioral models of addiction, but which have commonly ignored one key underlying issue – the affective feelings that accompany these psychiatric problems, especially in preclinical animal models that are increasingly used to ferret out the underlying neural mechanisms. This neglect is in line with most other current pre-clinical models of psychiatric disorders (Hyman, 2007; for a critique, see Panksepp, 2010a). We would simply indicate that we might do better if we more consistently included direct measures of affective changes in our pre-clinical research (e.g., Burgdorf et al., 2001a,b; Panksepp et al., 2002).

Although this has not been a common perspective in the study of animal models, it can finally be achieved, not only by monitoring the 'reward' and 'punishment' thresholds of brain emotional systems (Panksepp, 1998, 2005), but also direct vocal indicators of positive and negative affective states. For instance, in rats, 55 kHz ultrasonics index arousal of the SEEKING system (Burgdorf and Panksepp, 2006; Burgdorf et al., 2007), and 22 kHz ultrasonics index the arousal of discrete negative affective network of the brain (Brudzynski, 2007). It is increasingly clear that we can use these measures to estimate addictive liability (Knutson et al., 2002; Panksepp et al., 2002), as well as depressive tendencies (Panksepp, 2010a, and see Burgdorf et al., 2011). Further, we should be able to model disorders such as depression by direct stimulation of PANIC/GRIEF systems of the brain (Panksepp and Watt, 2011), and treat depression by stimulating the SEEKING system (see Coenen et al., 2011).

5. Conclusion: SEEKING and the emotional view of appetitive urges

Despite the continued need for rigorous behavioral and neurobiological analyses, a psychobiological perspective is also essential for realistic scientific confrontation with the problem of the intrinsic intentionality and coherence of brain emotional networks that evolution built into organisms (Panksepp, 1998). The primaryprocess emotional system perspective, preserve us from the allure of ruthless reductionism that the more pure behavioral neuroscience approaches often embrace, and from endless equivocations about whether animals experience anything, since empirical evidences for an affective view of animal brains is next to definitive (Panksepp, 1998, 2005, 2011a; Panksepp and Biven, 2011).

SEEKING is fundamentally a fully integrated psychobiological concept, that gives equal attention to the psychological and the behavioral features as well as to the underlying brain mechanisms that mediate the natural urges of animals to engage adaptively with their environment. The unity and the force of SEEKING concept are due to its intrinsic intentionality. SEEKING is neither exclusively related to behavioral outputs (e.g. approach) nor to specific environmental cues. It expresses the organism's attitude to move towards configurations emerging in its psychological-perceptual fields, both when actual objects are present in the external environment or, at least in humans, simply represented at the mental level. Therefore, the intrinsic intentionality of SEEKING is not well developed in purely objective cognitive-behavioristic perspectives. For that reason, we advocate more specific attention to the affective feeling qualities of positive anticipatory excitement and euphoria, which may represent the manifestation of the intrinsic intentionality that characterize the SEEKING disposition at the subjective level.

Although the use of psychological concepts such as emotions and feelings has continued to be banished during the rise of cognitive-behaviorism in behavioral neuroscience, new neurophenomenological and neuro-affective interpretations of past data suggest that such concepts have robust correspondences to brain functions (Panksepp, 1998; Panksepp and Biven, 2011; Panksepp and Northoff, 2009; Tononi and Edelman, 1998; Varela, 1999). This suggests new and unique conversations of how mammalian brains are functionally organized. Thus, in this paper, we proposed that SEEKING urges in mammals are related to characteristic neural oscillatory patterns promoted by DA in the anterior limbic forebrain, what we have called "SEEKING wave packets". Such neurodynamic patterns express a primary-process emotional disposition that is rich with appetitive and incentive reward properties.

If we ignore the relevant intentional-experiential psychological aspects of animal emotional arousals we cannot have satisfactory pre-clinical models and hence deep neuroscientific explanations of psychiatric disorders. Here we highlighted depression and addictions as key examples of how to envision the underlying causal processes while not ignoring the psychological states of either animals or humans. Specifically, depression is characterized by a markedly weakened SEEKING disposition, perhaps most commonly initiated by sustained separation–distress (Panksepp and Watt, 2011). Addictions reflect profound re-organizations of the SEEKING urge around drug use related memories and associated compulsive habits, sustained by specific types of endogenous appetitive-affective dynamics.

We have no desire to deny or criticize the relevance or utility of other cognitive, behavioral or motivational interpretation of such diseases. However, we think that an affective neuroethological perspective adds coherence to interpretations of depression and addiction at all the relevant levels of analysis: the psycho-behavioral, the neuroanatomical, the neurochemical and the neurodynamic.

Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the Hope for Depression Research Foundation.

References

Alcaro, A., Cabib, S., Ventura, R., Puglisi-Allegra, S., 2002. Genotype- and experiencedependent susceptibility to depressive-like responses in the forced-swimming test. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 164 (2), 138–143.

- Alcaro, A., Huber, R., Panksepp, J., 2007. Behavioral functions of the mesolimbic dopaminergic system: an affective neuroethological perspective. Brain Res. Rev. 56 (2), 283–321.
- Alcaro, A., Panksepp, P., Huber, R., 2011. D-amphetamine stimulates unconditioned exploration/approach behaviors in crayfish: towards a conserved evolutionary function of ancestral drug reward. Pharm. Biochem. Behav. [Epub ahead of print].
- Alcaro, A., Panksepp, J., Witczak, J., Hayes, D.J., Northoff, G., 2010. Is subcorticalcortical midline activity in depression mediated by glutamate and GABA? A cross-species translational approach. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 34 (4), 592–605.
- Alexander, G.E., DeLong, M.R., Strick, P.L., 1986. Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 9, 357–381.
- Anisman, H., Irwin, J., Sklar, L.S., 1979a. Deficits of escape performance following catecholamine depletion: implications for behavioral deficits induced by uncontrollable stress. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 64 (2), 163–170.
- Anisman, H., Matheson, K., 2005. Stress, depression, and anhedonia: caveats concerning animal models. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 29 (4–5), 525–546.
- Anisman, H., Remington, G., Sklar, L.S., 1979b. Effect of inescapable shock on subsequent escape performance: catecholaminergic and cholinergic mediation of response initiation and maintenance. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 61 (2), 107–124.
- Bardo, M.T., Donohew, R.L., Harrington, N.G., 1996. Psychobiology of novelty seeking and drug seeking behavior. Behav. Brain Res. 77 (1–2), 23–43.
- Barr, A.M., Markou, A., 2005. Psychostimulant withdrawal as an inducing condition in animal models of depression. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 29 (4–5), 675–706.
- Barr, M.S., Farzan, F., Rusjan, P.M., Chen, R., Fitzgerald, P.B., Daskalakis, Z.J., 2009. Potentiation of gamma oscillatory activity through repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Neuropsychopharmacology 34 (11), 2359–2367.
- Basso, A.M., Gallagher, K.B., Bratcher, N.A., Brioni, J.D., Moreland, R.B., Hsieh, G.C., Drescher, K., Fox, G.B., Decker, M.W., Rueter, L.E., 2005. Antidepressant-like effect of D(2/3) receptor-, but not D(4) receptor-activation in the rat forced swim test. Neuropsychopharmacology 30 (7), 1257–1268.
- Berke, J.D., 2009. Fast oscillations in cortical-striatal networks switch frequency following rewarding events and stimulant drugs. Eur. J. Neurosci. 30 (5), 848–859. Berridge, K.C., 2004. Motivation concepts in behavioral neuroscience. Physiol. Behav. 81 (2), 179–209.
- Berridge, K.C., Kringelbach, M.L., 2008. Affective neuroscience of pleasure: reward in humans and animals. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 199 (3), 457–480.
- Berridge, K.C., Robinson, T.E., 1998. What is the role of dopamine in reward: hedonic impact, reward learning, or incentive salience? Brain Res. Rev. 28 (3), 309–369. Bevins, R.A., Besheer, J., 2005. Novelty reward as a measure of anhedonia. Neurosi.
- Biobehav. Rev. 29 (4–5), 707–714.
- Bewernick, B.H., Hurlemann, R., Matusch, A., Kayser, S., Grubert, C., Hadrysiewicz, B., Axmacher, N., Lemke, M., Cooper-Mahkorn, D., Cohen, M.X., Brockmann, H., Lenartz, D., Sturm, V., Schlaepfer, T.E., 2010. Nucleus accumbens deep brain stimulation decreases ratings of depression and anxiety in treatment-resistant depression. Biol. Psychiatry 67 (2), 110–116.
- Blackburn, J.R., Phillips, A.G., Fibiger, H.C., 1987. Dopamine and preparatory behavior: I. Effects of pimozide. Behav. Neurosci. 101 (3), 352–360.
- Bracci, E., Centone, D., Bernardi, G., Calabresi, P., 2002. Dopamine excites fast-spiking interneurons in the striatum. J. Neurophysiol. 87 (4), 2190–2194.
- Bradberry, C.W., Gruen, R.J., Berridge, C.W., Roth, R.H., 1991. Individual differences in behavioral measures: correlations with nucleus accumbens dopamine measured by microdialysis. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 39 (4), 877–882.
- Bromberg-Martin, E.S., Hikosaka, O., 2009. Midbrain dopamine neurons signal preference for advance information about upcoming rewards. Neuron 63 (1), 119–126.
- Bromberg-Martin, E.S., Matsumoto, M., Hikosaka, O., 2010. Distinct tonic and phasic anticipatory activity in lateral habenula and dopamine neurons. Neuron 67 (1), 144–155.
- Brown, P., 2003. Oscillatory nature of human basal ganglia activity: relationship to the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 18 (4), 357–363.
- Brudzynski, S., 2007. Ultrasonic calls of rats as indicator variables of negative or positive states: acetylcholine-dopamine interaction and acoustic coding. Behav. Brain Res. 182, 261–273.
- Brudzynski, S.M., 2009. Handbook of Mammalian Vocalization. Academic Press, Oxford, UK.
- Burgdorf, J., Knutson, B., Panksepp, J., 2000. Anticipation of rewarding electricalal brain stimulation evokes ultrasonic vocalizations in rats. Behav. Neurosci. 114, 320–327.
- Burgdorf, J., Knutson, B., Panksepp, J., Ikemoto, S., 2001a. Nucleus accumbens amphetamine microinjections unconditionally elicit 50 kHz ultrasonic vocalizations in rats. Behav. Neurosci. 115, 940–944.
- Burgdorf, J., Knutson, B., Panksepp, J., Shippenberg, T., 2001b. Evaluation of rat ultrasonic vocalizations as predictors of the conditioned aversive effects of drugs. Psychopharmacology 155, 35–42.
- Burgdorf, J., Panksepp, J., 2006. The neurobiology of positive emotions. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 30, 173–187.
- Burgdorf, J., Panksepp, J., Moskal, J.R., 2011. Frequency-modulated 50 kHz ultrasonic vocalizations a tool for uncovering the molecular substrates of positive affect. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 35 (9), 1831–1836.
- Burgdorf, J., Wood, P.L., Kroes, R.A., Moskal, J.R., Panksepp, J., 2007. Neurobiology of 50-kHz ultrasonic vocalizations in rats: electrode mapping, lesion, and pharmacology studies. Behav. Brain Res. 182 (2), 274–283.

- Cabib, S., Puglisi-Allegra, S., 1996. Stress, depression and the mesolimbic dopamine system. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 128 (4), 331–342.
- Campbell, J.C., Szumlinski, K.K., Kippin, T.E., 2009. Contribution of early environmental stress to alcoholism vulnerability. Alcohol 43 (7), 547–554.
- Cardin, J.A., Carlen, M., Meletis, K., Knoblich, U., Zhang, F., Deisseroth, K., Tsai, L.H., Moore, C.I., 2009. Driving fast-spiking cells induces gamma rhythm and controls sensory responses. Nature 459, 663–667.
- Carlsson, A., 1978. Does dopamine have a role in schizophrenia? Biol. Psychiatry 13 (1), 3–21.
- Carr, G.D., White, N.M., 1986. Anatomical disassociation of amphetamine's rewarding and aversive effects: an intracranial microinjection study. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 89 (3), 340–346.
- Cassidy, M., Mazzone, P., Oliviero, A., Insola, A., Tonali, P., Di Lazzaro, V., Brown, P., 2002. Movement-related changes in synchronization in the human basal ganglia. Brain 125 (6), 1235–1246.
- Centonze, D., Picconi, B., Gubellini, P., Bernardi, G., Calabresi, P., 2001. Dopaminergic control of synaptic plasticity in the dorsal striatum. Eur. J. Neurosci. 13 (6), 1071–1077.
- Cheeta, S., Broekkamp, C., Willner, P., 1994. Stereospecific reversal of stress-induced anhedonia by mianserin and its (+)-enantiomer. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 116 (4), 523–528.
- Chefer, V.I., Zakharova, I., Shippenberg, T.S., 2003. Enhanced responsiveness to novelty and cocaine is associated with decreased basal dopamine uptake and release in the nucleus accumbens: quantitative microdialysis in rats under transient conditions. J. Neurosci. 23 (7), 3076–3084.
- Clark, S., Trowill, J.A., 1971. Sniffing and motivated behavior in the rat. Physiol. Behav. 6, 49–52.
- Coenen, V.A., Honey, C.R., Hurwitz, T., Rahman, A.A., McMaster, J., Bürgel, U., Mädler, B., 2009. Medial forebrain bundle stimulation as a pathophysiological mechanism for hypomania in subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease. Neurosurgery 64 (6), 1106–1114.
- Coenen, V.A., Schlaepfer, T.E., Maedler, B., Panksepp, J., 2011. Cross-species affective functions of the medial forebrain bundle-Implications for the treatment of affective pain and depression in humans. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 35 (9), 1971–1981.
- Cohen, M.X., Axmacher, N., Lenartz, D., Elger, C.E., Sturm, V., Schlaepfer, T.E., 2009. Good vibrations: cross-frequency coupling in the human nucleus accumbens during reward processing. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 21 (5), 875–889.
- Comings, D.E., Blum, K., 2000. Reward deficiency syndrome: genetic aspects of behavioral disorders. Prog. Brain Res. 126, 325–341.
- Corbit, L.H., Balleine, B.W., 2005. Double dissociation of basolateral and central amygdala lesions on the general and outcome-specific forms of pavlovian-instrumental transfer. J. Neurosci. 25 (4), 962–970.
 Courtemanche, R., Fujii, N., Graybiel, A.M., 2003. Synchronous, focally modulated
- Courtemanche, R., Fujii, N., Graybiel, A.M., 2003. Synchronous, focally modulated beta-band oscillations characterize local field potential activity in the striatum of awake behaving monkeys. J. Neurosci. 23 (37), 11741–11752.
- Cyr, M., Morissette, M., Barden, N., Beaulieu, S., Rochford, J., Di Paolo, T., 2001. Dopaminergic activity in transgenic mice underexpressing glucocorticoid receptors: effect of antidepressants. Neuroscience 102 (1), 151–158.
- Daftary, S.S., Panksepp, J., Dong, Y., Saal, D.B., 2009. Stress-induced, glucocorticoiddependent strengthening of glutamatergic synaptic transmission in midbrain dopamine neurons. Neurosci. Lett. 452, 273–276.
- Damsma, G., Pfaus, J.G., Wenkstern, D., Phillips, A.G., Fibiger, H.C., 1992. Sexual behaviour increases dopamine transmission in the nucleus accumbens and striatum of male rats: comparison with novelty and locomotion. Behav. Neurosci. 106 (1), 181–191.
- De Leonibus, E., Verheij, M.M., Mele, A., Cools, A., 2006. Distinct kinds of novelty processing differentially increase extracellular dopamine in different brain regions. Eur. J. Neurosci. 23 (5), 1332–1340.
- Dejean, C., Gross, C.E., Bioulac, B., Boraud, T., 2008. Dynamic changes in the cortexbasal ganglia network after dopamine depletion in the rat. J. Neurophysiol. 100 (1), 385–396.
- Dellu, F., Piazza, P.V., Mayo, W., Le Moal, M., Simon, H., 1996. Novelty-seeking in rats – biobehavioral characteristics and possible relationship with the sensationseeking trait in man. Neuropsychobiology 34 (3), 136–145.
- Demiralp, T., Herrmann, C.S., Erdal, M.E., Ergenoglu, T., Keskin, Y.H., Ergen, M., Beydagi, H., 2007. DRD4 and DAT1 polymorphisms modulate human gamma band responses. Cereb. Cortex 17 (5), 1007–1019.
- Depue, R.A., Collins, P.F., 1999. Neurobiology of the structure of personality: dopamine, facilitation of incentive motivation, and extraversion. Behav. Brain Sci. 22 (3), 491–517.
- Di Chiara, G., Loddo, P., Tanda, G., 1999. Reciprocal changes in prefrontal and limbic dopamine responsiveness to aversive and rewarding stimuli after chronic mild stress: implications for the psychobiology of depression. Biol. Psychiatry 46 (12), 1624–1633.
- Domino, E.F., 2003. Effects of tobacco smoking on electroencephalographic, auditory evoked and event related potentials. Brain Cogn. 53, 66–74.
- Dremencov, E., Newman, M.E., Kinor, N., Blatman-Jan, G., Schindler, C.J., Overstreet, D.H., Yadid, G., 2005. Hyperfunctionality of serotonin-2C receptor-mediated inhibition of accumbal dopamine release in an animal model of depression is reversed by antidepressant treatment. Neuropharmacology 48 (1), 34–42.
- Drevets, W.C., Gautier, C., Price, J.C., Kupfer, D.J., Kinahan, P.E., Grace, A.A., Price, J.L., Mathis, C.A., 2001. Amphetamine-induced dopamine release in human ventral striatum correlates with euphoria. Biol. Psychiatry 49 (2), 81–96.
- Dube, L., Bechara, A., Drewnowski, A., LeBel, J., James, P., Yada, R.Y. (Eds.), 2010. Obesity Prevention Handbook. Academic Press, London, UK.

- Dubuc, R., Brocard, F., Antri, M., Fénelon, K., Gariépy, J.F., Smetana, R., Ménard, A., Le Ray, D., Viana Di Prisco, G., Pearlstein, E., Sirota, M.G., Derjean, D., St-Pierre, M., Zielinski, B., Auclair, F., Veilleux, D., 2008. Initiation of locomotion in lampreys. Brain Res. Rev. 57 (1), 172–182.
- Dunlop, B.W., Nemeroff, C.B., 2007. The role of dopamine in the pathophysiology of depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 64 (3), 327–337.
- Engel, A.K., Singer, W., 2001. Temporal binding and the neural correlates of sensory awareness. Trends Neurosci. 5, 16–25.
- Everitt, B.J., Robbins, T.W., 2005. Neural systems of reinforcement for drug addiction: from actions to habits to compulsion. Nat. Neurosci. 8 (11), 1481–1489.
- Fibiger, H.C., 1978. Drugs and reinforcement mechanisms: a critical review of the catecholamine theory. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 18, 37–56.
- Fidler, A.E., van Oers, K., Drent, P.J., Kuhn, S., Mueller, J.C., Kempenaers, B., 2007. Drd4 gene polymorphisms are associated with personality variation in a passerine bird. Proc. Biol. Sci. 274 (1619), 1685–1691.
- Fingelkurts, A.A., Fingelkurts, A.A., Kivisaari, R., Autti, T., Borisov, S., Puuskari, V., Jokela, O., Kähkönen, S., 2007. Opioid withdrawal results in an increased local and remote functional connectivity at EEG alpha and beta frequency bands. Neurosci. Res. 58 (1), 40–49.
- Flagel, S.B., Robinson, T.E., Clark, J.J., Clinton, S.M., Watson, S.J., Seeman, P., Phillips, P.E., Akil, H., 2010. An animal model of genetic vulnerability to behavioral disinhibition and responsiveness to reward-related cues: implications for addiction. Neuropsychopharmacology 35 (2), 388–400.
- Floresco, S.B., West, A.R., Ash, B., Moore, H., Grace, A.A., 2003. Afferent modulation of dopamine neuron firing differentially regulates tonic and phasic dopamine transmission. Nat. Neurosci. 6 (9), 967–968.
- Franken, P., Dijk, D.J., Tobler, I., Borbeily, A.A., 1994. High-frequency components of the rat electrocorticogram are modulated by the vigilance states. Neurosci. Lett. 167, 89–92.
- Freeman, W.J., 2003. The wave packet: an action potential for the 21st century. J. Integr. Neurosci. 2 (1), 3–30.
- Friedman, A., Deri, I., Friedman, Y., Dremencov, E., Goutkin, S., Kravchinsky, E., Mintz, M., Levi, D., Overstreet, D.H., Yadid, G., 2007. Decoding of dopaminergic mesolimbic activity and depressive behavior. J. Mol. Neurosci. 32 (1), 72–79.
- Fries, P., Nikolić, D., Singer, W., 2007. The gamma cycle. Trends Neurosci. 30 (7), 309-316.
- Fu, A.L., Wu, S.P., Dong, Z.H., Sun, M.J., 2006. A novel therapeutic approach to depression via supplement with tyrosine hydroxylase. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 351 (1), 140–145.
- Galati, S., D'Angelo, V., Olivola, E., Marzetti, F., Di Giovanni, G., Stanzione, P., Stefani, A., 2010. Acute inactivation of the medial forebrain bundle imposes oscillations in the SNr: a challenge for the 6-OHDA model? Exp. Neurol. 225 (2), 294–301.
- Gallistel, C.R., 1974. Note on temporal summation in the reward system. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 87 (5), 870-875.
- Gardner, E.L., 1999. The neurobiology and genetics of addiction: implications of the "reward deficiency syndrome" for therapeutic strategies in chemical dependency. In: Elster, J. (Ed.), Addiction: Entries and Exits. Russell Sage Foundation, New York, pp. 57–119.
- Garris, P.A., Ciolkowski, E.L., Pastore, P., Wightman, R.M., 1994. Efflux of dopamine from the synaptic cleft in the nucleus accumbens of the rat brain. J. Neurosci. 14 (10), 6084–6093.
- George, S.R., Fan, T., Ng, G.Y., Jung, S.Y., O'Dowd, B.F., Naranjo, C.A., 1995. Low endogenous dopamine function in brain predisposes to high alcohol preference and consumption: reversal by increasing synaptic dopamine. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 273 (1), 373–379.
- Gershon, A.A., Vishne, T., Grunhaus, L., 2007. Dopamine D2-like receptors and the antidepressant response. Biol. Psychiatry 61 (2), 145–153.
- Glickman, S.E., Schiff, B.B., 1967. A biological theory of reinforcement. Psychol. Rev. 74 (2), 81–109.
- Goldman-Rakic, P.S., Muly III, E.C., Williams, G.V., 2000. D(1) receptors in prefrontal cells and circuits. Brain Res. Rev. 31, 295–301.
- Gonon, F.G., 1988. Nonlinear relationship between impulse flow and dopamine released by rat midbrain dopaminergic neurons as studied by in vivo electrochemistry. Neuroscience 24 (1), 19–28.
- Goto, Y., Otani, S., Grace, A.A., 2007. The Yin and Yang of dopamine release: a new perspective. Neuropharmacology 53 (5), 583–587.
- Grace, A.A., 1991. Phasic versus tonic dopamine release and the modulation of dopamine system responsivity: a hypothesis for the etiology of schizophrenia. Neuroscience 41 (1), 1–24.
- Grace, A.A., 2000. Gating of information flow within the limbic system and the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Brain Res. Rev. 31 (2–3), 330–341.
- Gray, J.A., 1985. Emotional behaviour and the limbic system. Adv. Psychosom. Med. 13, 1–25.
- Gray, J.M., Hill, J.J., Bargmann, C.I., 2005. A circuit for navigation in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. PNAS 102 (9), 3184–3191.
- Greengard, P., 2001. The neurobiology of dopamine signaling. Biosci. Rep. 21 (3), 247–269.
- Grippo, A.J., Na, E.S., Johnson, R.F., Beltz, T.G., Johnson, A.K., 2004. Sucrose ingestion elicits reduced Fos expression in the nucleus accumbens of anhedonic rats. Brain Res. 1019 (1–2), 259–264.
- Haber, S.N., Fudge, J.L., McFarland, N.R., 2000. Striatonigrostriatal pathways in primates form an ascending spiral from the shell to the dorsolateral striatum. J. Neurosci. 20 (6), 2369–2382.
- Hammond, C., Bergman, H., Brown, P., 2007. Pathological synchronization in Parkinson's disease: networks, models and treatments. Trends Neurosci. 30, 357–364.

- Han, J.S., McMahan, R.W., Holland, P., Gallagher, M., 1997. The role of an amygdalonigrostriatal pathway in associative learning. J. Neurosci. 17 (10), 3913–3919.
- Harro, J., Kanarik, M., Matrov, D., Panksepp, J., 2011. Mapping patterns of depressionrelated brain regions with cytochrome oxidase histochemistry: Relevance of animal affective systems to human disorders, with a focus on resilience to adverse events. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 35 (9), 1876–1889.
- Heinze, H.J., Heldmann, M., Voges, J., Hinrichs, H., Marco-Pallares, J., Hopf, J.M., Müller, U.J., Galazky, I., Sturm, V., Bogerts, B., Münte, T.F., 2009. Counteracting incentive sensitization in severe alcohol dependence using deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens: clinical and basic science aspects. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 3, 22.
- Henn, F.A., Johnson, J., Edwards, E., Anderson, D., 1985. Melancholia in rodents: neurobiology and pharmacology. Psychopharmacol. Bull. 21 (3), 443–446.
- Heath, R.C., 1996. Exploring the Mind-Body Relationship. Moran Printing, Baton Roughe, LA.
- Hills, T., Brockie, P.J., Maricq, A.V., 2004. Dopamine and glutamate control arearestricted search behavior in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Neurosci. 24 (5), 1217–1225.
- Hooks, M.S., Jones, G.H., Liem, B.J., Justice Jr., J.B., 1992. Sensitization and individual differences to IP amphetamine, cocaine, or caffeine following repeated intracranial amphetamine infusions. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 43 (3), 815–823.
- Horvitz, J.C., 2000. Mesolimbocortical and nigrostriatal dopamine responses to salient non-reward events. Neuroscience 96 (4), 651–656.
- Huang, Y.Y., Simpson, E., Kellendonk, C., Kandel, E.R., 2004. Genetic evidence for the bidirectional modulation of synaptic plasticity in the prefrontal cortex by D1 receptors. PNAS 101 (9), 3236–3241.
- Huber, R., Panksepp, J.B., Nathaniel, T., Alcaro, A., Panksepp, J., 2011. Drug-sensitive reward in crayfish: An invertebrate model system for the study of SEEKING, reward, addiction, and withdrawal. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 35 (9), 1847–1853.
- Hyman, S.E., 2005. Addiction: a disease of learning and memory. Am. J. Psychiatry 162 (8), 1414–1422.
- Hyman, S.E., 2007. Can neuroscience be integrated into the DSM-V. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 725–732.
- Hyman, S.E., Malenka, R.C., 2001. Addiction and the brain: the neurobiology of compulsion and its persistence. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2 (10), 695–703.
- Ichikawa, J., Meltzer, H.Y., 1995. Effect of antidepressants on striatal and accumbens extracellular dopamine levels. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 281 (3), 255–261.
- Ikemoto, S., 2003. Involvement of the olfactory tubercle in cocaine reward: intracranial self-administration studies. J. Neurosci. 23 (28), 9305–9311.
 Ikemoto, S., 2010. Brain reward circuitry beyond the mesolimbic dopamine system:
- a neurobiological theory. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 35 (2), 129–150.
- Ikemoto, S., Panksepp, J., 1994. The relationship between self-stimulation and sniffing in rats: does a common brain system mediate these behaviors? Behav. Brain Res. 61 (2), 143–162.
- Ikemoto, S., Panksepp, J., 1999. The role of nucleus accumbens dopamine in motivated behavior: a unifying interpretation with special reference to rewardseeking. Brain Res. Rev. 31 (1), 6–41.
- Ikemoto, S., Wise, R.A., 2004. Mapping of chemical trigger zones for reward. Neuropharmacology 47 (S1), 190–201.
- Imperato, A., Cabib, S., Puglisi-Allegra, S., 1993. Repeated stressful experiences differently affect the time-dependent responses of the mesolimbic dopamine system to the stressor. Brain Res. 601 (1–2), 333–336.
- Jiao, X., Paré, W.P., Tejani-Butt, S., 2003. Strain differences in the distribution of dopamine transporter sites in rat brain. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 27 (6), 913–919.
- Joel, D., Weiner, I., 2000. The connections of the dopaminergic system with the striatum in rats and primates: an analysis with respect to the functional and compartmental organization of the striatum. Neuroscience 96 (3), 451–474.
- Kalenscher, T., Lansink, C.S., Lankelma, J.V., Pennartz, C.M., 2010. Reward-associated gamma oscillations in ventral striatum are regionally differentiated and modulate local firing activity. J. Neurophysiol. 103 (3), 1658–1672.
- Kalivas, P.W., Churchill, L., Romanides, A., 1999. Involvement of the pallidalthalamocortical circuit in adaptive behavior. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 877, 64–70.
- Kanarik, M., Alttoa, A., Matrov, D., Kõiv, K., Sharp, T., Panksepp, J., Harro, J., 2010. Brain responses to chronic social defeat stress: effects on regional oxidative metabolism as a function of a hedonic trait, and gene expression in susceptible and resilient rats. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 21 (1), 92–107.
- Kaplan, G.B., Heinrichs, S.C., Carey, R.J., 2011. Treatment of addiction and anxiety using extinction approaches: neural mechanisms and their treatment implications. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 97 (3), 619–625.
- Kassel, J.D., 2010. Substance Abuse and Emotion. American Psychological Association, Washington, DC.
- Keck, M.E., Welt, T., Müller, M.B., Erhardt, A., Ohl, F., Toschi, N., Holsboer, F., Sillaber, I., 2002. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation increases the release of dopamine in the mesolimbic and mesostriatal system. Neuropharmacology 43 (1), 101–109.
- Khantzian, E.J., 2003. Understanding addictive vulnerability: an evolving psychodynamic perspective. Neuro-Psychoanalysis 5, 5–21.
- Kitanaka, J., Kitanaka, N., Takemura, M., 2008. Neurochemical consequences of dysphoric state during amphetamine withdrawal in animal models: a review. Neurochem. Res. 33 (1), 204–219.
- Knott, V., Cosgrove, M., Villeneuve, C., Fisher, D., Millar, A., McIntosh, J., 2008. EEG correlates of imagery-induced cigarette craving in male and female smokers. Addict. Behav. 33, 616–621.
- Knutson, B., Burgdorf, J., Panksepp, J., 2002. Ultrasonic vocalizations as indices of affective states in rats. Psychol. Bull. 128 (6), 961–977.

Koob, G.F., 1992. Neural mechanisms of drug reinforcement. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 654, 171–191.

Koob, G.F., 2009. Dynamics of neuronal circuits in addiction: reward, antireward, and emotional memory. Pharmacopsychiatry 42 (S1), S32–S41.

- Koob, G.F., Le Moal, M., 2001. Drug addiction, dysregulation of reward, and allostasis. Neuropsychopharmacology 24 (2), 97–129.
- Koob, G.F., Le Moal, M., 2008. Neurobiological mechanisms for opponent motivational processes in addiction. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 363 (1507), 3113–3123.
- Koob, G.F., Volkow, N.D., 2010. Neurocircuitry of addiction. Neuropsychopharmacology 35 (1), 217–238.
- Kopell, N., Ermentrout, B., 2004. Chemical and electricalal synapses perform complementary roles in the synchronization of interneuronal networks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 101 (43), 15482–15487.
- Kuhn, A.A., Williams, D., Kupsch, A., Limousin, P., Hariz, M., Schneider, G.H., Yarrow, K., Brown, P., 2004. Event-related beta desynchronization in human subthalmic nucleus correlates with motor performance. Brain 127, 735–746.
- Lansink, C.S., Goltstein, P.M., Lankelma, J.V., McNaughton, B.L., Pennartz, C.M., 2009. Hippocampus leads ventral striatum in replay of place-reward information. P.Lo. S. Biol. 7 (8) [Epub ahead of print].
- Le Moal, M., 2009. Drug abuse: vulnerability and transition to addiction. Pharmacopsychiatry 42 (S1), S42–S55.
- Lee, K.M., Ahn, T.B., Jeon, B.S., Kim, D.G., 2004. Change in phase synchronization of local field potentials in anesthetized rats after chronic dopamine depletion. Neurosci. Res. 49 (2), 179–184.
- Lena, I., Parrot, S., Deschaux, O., Muffat-Joly, S., Sauvinet, V., Renaud, B., Suaud-Chagny, M.F., Gottesmann, C., 2005. Variations in extracellular levels of dopamine, noradrenaline, glutamate, and aspartate across the sleep wake cycle in the medial prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens of freely moving rats. J. Neurosci. Res. 81 (6), 891–899.
- Levy, F., 1991. The dopamine theory of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 25 (2), 277–283.

Llinás, R., 2001. I of the Vortex: From Neurons to Self. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.

- López-Azcárate, J., Tainta, M., Rodríguez-Oroz, M.C., Valencia, M., González, R., Guridi, J., Iriarte, J., Obeso, J.A., Artieda, J., Alegre, M., 2010. Coupling between beta and high-frequency activity in the human subthalamic nucleus may be a pathophysiological mechanism in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurosci. 30 (19), 6667–6677.
- Magill, P.J., Sharott, A., Bolam, J.P., Brown, P., 2004. Brain state-dependency of coherent oscillatory activity in the cerebral cortex and basal ganglia of the rat. J. Neurophysiol. 92 (4), 2122–2136.
- Malkesman, O., Scattoni, M.L., Paredes, D., Tragon, T., Pearson, B., Shaltiel, G., Chen, G., Crawley, J.N., Manji, H.K., 2010. The female urine sniffing test: a novel approach for assessing reward-seeking behavior in rodents. Biol. Psychiatry 67 (9), 864–871.
- Maloney, K.J., Cape, E.G., Gotman, J., Jones, B.E., 1997. High-frequency gamma electroencephalogram activity in association with sleep – wake states and spontaneous behaviors in the rat. Neuroscience 76, 541–555.
- Mangiavacchi, S., Masi, F., Scheggi, S., Leggio, B., De Montis, M.G., Gambarana, C., 2001. Long-term behavioral and neurochemical effects of chronic stress exposure in rats. J. Neurochem. 79 (6), 1113–1121.
- Marinelli, M., White, F.J., 2000. Enhanced vulnerability to cocaine selfadministration is associated with elevated impulse activity of midbrain dopamine neurons. J. Neurosci. 20 (23), 8876–8885.
- Markou, A., Kosten, T.R., Koob, G.F., 1998. Neurobiological similarities in depression and drug dependence: a self-medication hypothesis. Neuropsychopharmacology 18 (3), 135–174.
- Masimore, B., Schmitzer-Torbert, N.C., Kakalios, J., Redish, A.D., 2005. Transient striatal gamma local field potentials signal movement initiation in rats. Neuroreport 16 (18), 2021–2024.
- Mayberg, H.S., Lozano, A.M., Voon, V., McNeely, H.E., Seminowicz, D., Hamani, C., Schwalb, J.M., Kennedy, S.H., 2005. Deep brain stimulation for treatmentresistant depression. Neuron 45 (5), 651–660.
- McCracken, C.B., Grace, A.A., 2009. Nucleus accumbens deep brain stimulation produces region-specific alterations in local field potential oscillations and evoked responses in vivo. J. Neurosci. 29 (16), 5354–5363.
- Melis, M., Pillolla, G., Perra, S., Colombo, G., Muntoni, A.L., Pistis, M., 2009. Electrophysiological properties of dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area of Sardinian alcohol-preferring rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 201 (4), 471–481.
- Mellon Jr., D., 2000. Convergence of multimodal sensory input onto higher-level
- neurons of the crayfish olfactory pathway. J. Neurophysiol. 84 (6), 3043–3055. Meltzer, H.Y., Stahl, S.M., 1976. The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: a review. Schizophr. Bull. 2 (1), 19–76.
- Misra, K., Pandey, S.C., 2003. Differences in basal levels of CREB and NPY in nucleus accumbens regions between C57BL/6 and DBA/2 mice differing in inborn alcohol drinking behavior. J. Neurosci. Res. 74 (6), 967–975.
- Mogenson, G.J., Jones, D.L., Yim, C.Y., 1980. From motivation to action: functional interface between the limbic system and the motor system. Prog. Neurobiol. 14 (2-3), 69–97.
- Molina-Borja, M., Gómez-Soutullo, T., 1989. Electricalal stimulation of lateral hypothalamic area and behavioural sequences in a lacertid lizard. Behav. Brain Res. 32 (2), 197–201.
- Monti, J.M., Monti, D., 2007. The involvement of dopamine in the modulation of sleep and waking. Sleep Med. Rev. 11 (2), 113–133.

- Moriyama, M., Ichimaru, Y., Gomita, Y., 1984. Behavioral suppression using intracranial reward and punishment: effects of benzodiazepines. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 21 (5), 773–778.
- Mu, P., Neumann, P.A., Panksepp, J., Schlüter, O.M., Dong, Y., 2011. Exposure to cocaine alters dynorphin-mediated regulation of excitatory synaptic transmission in nucleus accumbens neurons. Biol. Psychiatry 69 (3), 228–235.
- Nader, K., Bechara, A., van der Kooy, D., 1997. Neurobiological constraints on behavioral models of motivation. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 48, 85–114.
- Nakazato, T., 2005. Striatal dopamine release in the rat during a cued lever-press task for food reward and the development of changes over time measured using high-speed voltammetry. Exp. Brain Res. 166 (1), 137–146.
- Nestler, E.J., 1993. Cellular responses to chronic treatment with drugs of abuse. Crit. Rev. Neurobiol. 7 (1), 23–39.
- Nestler, E.J., 2004. Molecular mechanisms of drug addiction. Neuropharmacology 47 (S1), 24–32.
- Nestler, E.J., Carlezon Jr., W.A., 2006. The mesolimbic dopamine reward circuit in depression. Biol. Psychiatry 59 (12), 1151–1159.
- Nicola, S.M., Deadwyler, S.A., 2000. Firing rate of nucleus accumbens neurons is dopamine-dependent and reflects the timing of cocaine-seeking behavior in rats on a progressive ratio schedule of reinforcement. J. Neurosci. 20 (14), 5526–5537.
- Northoff, G., Wiebking, C., Feinberg, T., Panksepp, J., 2011. The 'resting-state hypothesis' of major depressive disorder-A translational subcortical-cortical framework for a system disorder. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 35 (9), 1929–1945.
- Oades, R.D., 1987. Attention deficit disorder with hyperactivity (ADDH): the contribution of catecholaminergic activity. Prog. Neurobiol. 29 (4), 365–391.
- Olds, J., 1956. Pleasure centers in the brain. Sci. Am. 195, 105-116.
- Olds, J., 1958. Self-stimulation of the brain; its use to study local effects of hunger, sex, and drugs. Science 127 (3294), 315–324.
- Olds, J., Milner, P., 1954. Positive reinforcement produced by electricalal stimulation of septal area and other regions of rat brain. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 47 (6), 419–427.
- Olds, J., Peretz, B., 1960. A motivational analysis of the reticular activating system. EEG Glin. Neurophysiol. 12, 445–454.
- Olds, M.E., Olds, J., 1963. Approach-avoidance analysis of rat diencephalon. J. Comp. Neurol. 120, 259–295.
- Overmier, J.B., Seligman, M.E., 1967. Effects of inescapable shock upon subsequent escape and avoidance responding. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 63 (1), 28–33.
- Overstreet, D.H., 1993. The Flinders sensitive line rats: a genetic animal model of depression. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 17 (1), 51–68.
- Pallis, E., Thermos, K., Spyraki, C., 2001. Chronic desipramine treatment selectively potentiates somatostatin-induced dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens. Eur. J. Neurosci. 14 (4), 763–767.
- Panksepp, J., 1974. Hypothalamic regulation of energy balance and feeding behavior. Fed. Proc. 33, 1150–1165.
- Panksepp, J., 1981a. Hypothalamic integration of behavior: rewards, punishments, and related psycho-biological process. In: Morgane, P.J., Panksepp, J. (Eds.), Handbook of the Hypothalamus. Part A. Behavioral Studies of the Hypothalamus, vol. 3. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 289–487.
- Panksepp, J., 1981b. Brain opioids: a neurochemical substrate for narcotic and social dependence. In: Cooper, S. (Ed.), Progress in Theory in Psychopharmacology. Academic Press, London, pp. 149–175.
- Panksepp, J., 1982. Toward a general psychobiological theory of emotions. Behav. Brain Sci. 5, 407–467.
- Panksepp, J., 1992. A critical role for "affective neuroscience" in resolving what is basic about basic emotions. Psychol. Rev. 99, 554–560.
- Panksepp, J., 1996. Affective neuroscience: a paradigm to study the animate circuits for human emotions. In: Stanley, G. (Ed.), Hall Symposium on Emotions: An Interdisciplinary Approach. Hillsdale, NJ, Erlbaum, pp. 29–60.
- Panksepp, J., 1998. Affective Neuroscience: the foundations of human and animal emotions. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Panksepp, J., 2005. Affective consciousness: core emotional feelings in animals and humans. Conscious. Cogn. 14, 30–80.
- Panksepp, J., 2007. Neuroevolutionary sources of laughter and social joy: modeling primal human laughter in laboratory rats. Behav. Brain Res. 182, 231–244.
- Panksepp, J., 2010a. Affective neuroscience of the emotional BrainMind: evolutionary perspectives and implications for understanding depression. Dialog. Clin. Neurosci. 12, 389–399.
- Panksepp, J., 2010b. Evolutionary substrates of addiction: the neurochemistries of pleasure seeking and social bonding in the mammalian brain. In: Kassel, J.D. (Ed.), Substance Abuse and Emotion. American Psychological Association, Washington, DC, pp. 137–168.
- Panksepp, J., 2011a. Toward a cross-species neuroscientific understanding of the affective mind: do animals have emotional feelings? Am. J. Primatol. 73, 1–17.
- Panksepp, J., 2011b. The neurobiology of social loss in animals: some keys to the puzzle of psychic pain in humans. In: Jensen-Campbell, LA., MacDonald, G. (Eds.), Social Pain: Neuropsychological and Health Implications of Loss and Exclusion. American Psychological Association, Washington, DC, pp. 11–51.
- Panksepp, J., Watt, J., 2011. Why does depression hurt? Ancestral primary-process separation-distress (PANIC) and diminished brain reward (SEEKING) processes in the genesis of depressive affect. Psychiatry 74, 5–14.
- Panksepp, J., Biven, L., 2011. The Archaeology of Mind: Neuroevolutionary Origins of Human Emotions. Norton, New York.
- Panksepp, J., Jalowiec, J., DeEskinazi, F.G., Bishop, P., 1985. Opiates and play dominance in juvenile rats. Behav. Neurosci. 99 (3), 441–453.

- Panksepp, J., Knutson, B., Burgdorf, J., 2002. The role of brain emotional systems in addictions: a neuro-evolutionary perspective and new 'self-report' animal model. Addiction 97 (4), 459–469.
- Panksepp, J., Moskal, J., 2008. Dopamine and SEEKING: subcortical "reward" systems and appetitive urges. In: Elliot, A. (Ed.), Handbook of Approach and Avoidance Motivation. Taylor & Francis Group, LLC, New York, pp. 67–87.
- Panksepp, J., Northoff, G., 2009. The trans-species core SELF: the emergence of active cultural and neuro-ecological agents through self-related processing within subcortical-cortical midline networks. Conscious. Cogn. 18 (1), 193–215.
- Papp, M., Klimek, V., Willner, P., 1994. Parallel changes in dopamine D2 receptor binding in limbic forebrain associated with chronic mild stress-induced anhedonia and its reversal by imipramine. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 115 (4), 441–446.
- Park, S.K., Nguyen, M.D., Fischer, A., Luke, M.P., Affar, el B., Dieffenbach, P.B., Tseng, H.C., Shi, Y., Tsai, L.H., 2005. Par-4 links dopamine signaling and depression. Cell 122 (2), 275–287.
- Parsons, L.H., Smith, A.D., Justice Jr., J.B., 1991. Basal extracellular dopamine is decreased in the rat nucleus accumbens during abstinence from chronic cocaine. Synapse 9 (1), 60–65.
- Paterson, N.E., Markou, A., 2007. Animal models and treatments for addiction and depression co-morbidity. Neurotox. Res. 11 (1), 1–32.
- Patton, P., Grobstein, P., 1998. The effects of telencephalic lesions on visually mediated prey orienting behavior in the leopard frog (*Rana pipiens*). I. The effects of complete removal of one telencephalic lobe, with a comparison to the effects of unilateral tectal lobe lesions. Brain Behav. Evol. 51 (3), 123–143.
- Pennartz, C.M., Berke, J.D., Graybiel, A.M., Ito, R., Lansink, C.S., van der Meer, M., Redish, A.D., Smith, K.S., Voorn, P., 2009. Corticostriatal interactions during learning, memory processing, and decision making. J. Neurosci. 29 (41), 12831–12838.
- Phillips, A.G., Mogenson, G.J., 1969. Self-stimulation of the olfactory bulb. Physiol. Behav. 4, 195–196.
- Piazza, P.V., Deminiere, J.M., Le Moal, M., Simon, H., 1989. Factors that predict individual vulnerability to amphetamine self-administration. Science 245 (4925), 1511–1513.
- Piazza, P.V., Le Moal, M.L., 1996. Pathophysiological basis of vulnerability to drug abuse: role of an interaction between stress, glucocorticoids, and dopaminergic neurons. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 36, 359–378.
- Plutchik, R., 1980. Emotion: Theory, Research, and Experience: Vol. 1. Theories of Emotion, 1, Academic Press, New York.
- Porsolt, R.D., 2000. Animal models of depression: utility for transgenic research. Rev. Neurosci. 11 (1), 53–58.
- Pruessner, J.C., Champagne, F., Meaney, M.J., Dagher, A., 2004. Dopamine release in response to a psychological stress in humans and its relationship to early life maternal care: a positron emission tomography study using [11C]raclopride. J. Neurosci. 24 (11), 2825–2831.
- Puglisi-Allegra, S., Imperato, A., Angelucci, L., Cabib, S., 1991. Acute stress induces time-dependent responses in dopamine mesolimbic system. Brain Res. 554 (1–2), 217–222.
- Rankin, C.H., Abrams, T., Barry, R.J., Bhatnagar, S., Clayton, D., Colombo, J., Coppola, G., Geyer, M.A., Glanzman, D.L., Marsland, S., McSweeney, F., Wilson, D.A., Wu, C.F., Thompson, R.F., 2009. Habituation revisited: an updated and revised description of the behavioral characteristics of habituation. Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 92, 135–138.
- Reid, M.S., Prichep, L.S., Ciplet, D., O'Leary, S., Tom, M., Howard, B., Rotrosen, J., John, E.R., 2003. Quantitative electroencephalographic studies of cue-induced cocaine craving. Clin. Electroencephalogr. 34, 110–123.
- Rescorla, R., Wagner, A., 1972. A theory of pavlovian conditioning: variations in the effectiveness of reinforcement and nonreinforcement. In: Black, A., Prokasy, W. (Eds.), Classical Conditioning II: Current Research and Theory. AppletonCentury-Crofts, New York, pp. 64–99.
- Rivlin-Etzion, M., Marmor, O., Heimer, G., Raz, A., Nini, A., Bergman, H., 2006. Basal ganglia oscillations and pathophysiology of movement disorders. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 16 (6), 629–637.
- Robinson, T.E., Berridge, K.C., 1993. The neural basis of drug craving: an incentivesensitization theory of addiction. Brain Res. Rev. 18 (3), 247–291.
- Robinson, T.E., Berridge, K.C., 2000. The psychology and neurobiology of addiction: an incentive-sensitization view. Addiction 95, S91–S117.
- Rossi, J., Panksepp, J., 1992. Analysis of the relationships between selfstimulation sniffing and brain-stimulation sniffing. Physiol. Behav. 51, 805–813.
- Rouge-Pont, F., Piazza, P.V., Kharouby, M., Le Moal, M., Simon, H., 1993. Higher and longer stressinduced increase in dopamine concentrations in the nucleus accumbens of animals predisposed to amphetamine self-administration. A microdialysis study. Brain Res. 602 (1), 169–174.
- Routtenberg, A., Lindy, J., 1965. Effects of the availability of rewarding septal and hypothalamic stimulation on bar pressing for food under conditions of deprivation. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 60, 158–161.
- Routtenberg, A., Malsbury, C., 1969. Brainstem pathways of reward. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 68, 22–30.
- Routtenberg, A., Sloan, M., 1972. Self-stimulation in the frontal cortex of rattus norvegicus. Behav. Biol. 7, 567–572.
- Sahr, A.E., Sindelar, D.K., Alexander-Chacko, J.T., Eastwood, B.J., Mitch, C.H., Statnick, M.A., 2008. Activation of mesolimbic dopamine neurons during novel and daily limited access to palatable food is blocked by the opioid antagonist LY255582. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 295 (2), R463–R471.

- Salamone, J.D., Correa, M., 2002. Motivational views of reinforcement: implications for understanding the behavioral functions of nucleus accumbens dopamine. Behav. Brain Res. 137 (1–2), 3–25.
- Salamone, J.D., Correa, M., Farrar, A.M., Nunes, E.J., Pardo, M., 2009. Dopamine, behavioral economics, and effort. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 3, 13.
- Schlaepfer, T.E., Cohen, M.X., Frick, C., Kosel, M., Brodesser, D., Axmacher, N., Joe, A.Y., Kreft, M., Lenartz, D., Sturm, V., 2008. Deep brain stimulation to reward circuitry alleviates anhedonia in refractory major depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 33 (2), 368–377.
- Schneirla, T., 1959. An evolutionary and developmental theory of biphasic processes underlying approach and withdrawal. In: Jones, M. (Ed.), Nebraska Symposium on Motivation. University of Nebraska Press, Lincoln, pp. 27–58.
- Schultz, W., 2001. Reward signaling by dopamine neurons. Neuroscientist 7 (4), 293–302.
- Schultz, W., 2010. Dopamine signals for reward value and risk: basic and recent data. Behav. Brain Funct. 23 (6), 24.
- Schultz, W., Dayan, P., Montague, P.R., 1997. A neural substrate of prediction and reward. Science 275 (5306), 1593–1599.
- Schultz, W., Dickinson, A., 2000. Neuronal coding of prediction errors. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 23, 473–500.
- Sharot, T., Shiner, T., Brown, A.C., Fan, J., Dolan, R.J., 2009. Dopamine enhances expectation of pleasure in humans. Curr. Biol. 19 (24), 2077–2080.
- Sharott, A., Magill, P.J., HarNacck, D., Kupsch, A., Meissner, W., Brown, P., 2005. Dopamine depletion increases the power and coherence of beta-oscillations in the cerebral cortex and subthalamic nucleus of the awake rat. Eur. J. Neurosci. 21 (5), 1413–1422.
- Shumake, J., Edwards, E., Gonzalez-Lima, F., 2003. Opposite metabolic changes in the habenula and ventral tegmental area of a genetic model of helpless behavior. Brain Res. 963 (1–2), 274–281.
- Shumake, J., Gonzalez-Lima, F., 2003. Brain systems underlying susceptibility to helplessness and depression. Behav. Cogn. Neurosci. Rev. 2 (3), 198–221.
- Sinha, R., 2008. Chronic stress, drug use, and vulnerability to addiction. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1141, 105–130.
- Snyder, S.H., 1972. Catecholamines in the brain as mediators of amphetamine psychosis. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 27 (2), 169–179.
- Spanagel, R., Weiss, F., 1999. The dopamine hypothesis of reward: past and current status. Trends Neurosci. 22 (11), 521–527.
- Spyraki, C., Fibiger, H.C., 1981. Behavioural evidence for supersensitivity of postsynaptic dopamine receptors in the mesolimbic system after chronic administration of desipramine. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 74 (2–3), 195–206.
- Stellar, J.R., Stellar, E., 1985. The Neurobiology of Motivation and Reward. Springer, New York.
- Steriade, M., 1996. Arousal: revisiting the reticular activating system. Science 272 (5259), 225–226.
- Steru, L., Chermat, R., Thierry, B., Simon, P., 1985. The tail suspension test: a new method for screening antidepressants in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 85 (3), 367–370.
- Stewart, C.V., Plenz, D., 2006. Inverted-U profile of dopamine-NMDA-mediated spontaneous avalanche recurrence in superficial layers of rat prefrontal cortex. J. Neurosci. 26 (31), 8148–8159.
- Stone, E.A., Lehmann, M.L., Lin, Y., Quartermain, D., 2006. Depressive behavior in mice due to immune stimulation is accompanied by reduced neural activity in brain regions involved in positively motivated behavior. Biol. Psychiatry 60 (8), 803–811.
- Stone, E.A., Lehmann, M.L., Lin, Y., Quartermain, D., 2007. Reduced evoked fos expression in activity-related brain regions in animal models of behavioral depression. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 31 (6), 1196–1207.
- Stone, E.A., Lin, Y., Quartermain, D., 2008. A final common pathway for depression? Progress toward a general conceptual framework. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 32 (3), 508–524.
- Sturm, V., Lenartz, D., Koulousakis, A., Treuer, H., Herholz, K., Klein, J.C., Klosterkötter, J., 2003. The nucleus accumbens: a target for deep brain stimulation in obsessive-compulsive- and anxiety-disorders. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 26 (4), 293–299.
- Stutz, R.M., Rossi, R.R., Hastings, L., Brunner, R.L., 1974. Discriminability of intracranial stimuli: the role of anatomical connectedness. Physiol. Behav. 12, 69–73.
- Sullivan, J.M., Beltz, B.S., 2005. Integration and segregation of inputs to higher-order neuropils of the crayfish brain. J. Comp. Neurol. 481 (1), 118–126.
- Swanson, L.W., 2004. Brain Maps: Structure of the Rat Brain, third ed. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Tinette, S., Zhang, L., Garnier, A., Engler, G., Tares, S., Robichon, A., 2007. Exploratory behaviour in NO-dependent cyclise mutants of Drosophila shows defects in coincident neuronal signalling. BMC Neurosci. 8, 65.
- Tononi, G., Edelman, G.M., 1998. Consciousness and complexity. Science 282 (5395), 1846–1851.
- Tononi, G., Srinivasan, R., Russell, D.P., Edelman, G.M., 1998. Investigating neural correlates of conscious perception by frequency-tagged neuromagnetic responses. PNAS 95 (6), 3198–3203.
- Tort, A.B., Kramer, M.A., Thorn, C., Gibson, D.J., Kubota, Y., Graybiel, A.M., Kopell, N.J., 2008. Dynamic cross-frequency couplings of local field potential oscillations in rat striatum and hippocampus during performance of a T-maze task. PNAS 105 (51), 20517–20522.
- Trowill, J.A., Hynek, K., 1970. Secondary reinforcement based on primary brain stimulation reward. Psych. Rep. 27, 715–718.
- Trowill, J.A., Panksepp, J., Gandelman, R., 1969. An incentive model of rewarding brain stimulation. Psychol. Rev. 76, 264–281.

- Tseng, K.Y., Kargieman, L., Gacio, S., Riquelme, L.A., Murer, M.G., 2005. Consequences of partial and severe dopaminergic lesion on basal ganglia oscillatory activity and akinesia. Eur. J. Neurosci. 22 (10), 2579–2586.
- Tseng, K.Y., Kasanetz, F., Kargieman, L., Riquelme, L.A., Murer, M.G., 2001. Cortical slow oscillatory activity is reflected in the membrane potential and spike trains of striatal neurons in rats with chronic nigrostriatal lesions. J. Neurosci. 21 (16), 6430-6439.
- Uhlhaas, P.J., Singer, W., 2010. Abnormal neural oscillations and synchrony in schizophrenia. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11 (2), 100–113.
- Ungerstedt, U., 1971. Adipsia and aphagia after 6-hydroxydopamine induced degeneration of the nigro-striatal dopamine system. Acta Physiol. Scand. S367, 95–122. Valenstein, E.S., Beer, B., 1962. Reinforcing brain stimulation in competition with
- water reward and shock avoidance. Science 137, 1052–1054.
- Valenstein, E.S., Cox, V.C., Kakolewski, J.W., 1969. Hypothalamic motivational systems: fixed or plastic neural circuits? Science 163 (871), 1084.
- van der Meer, M.A., Redish, A.D., 2009. Low and high gamma oscillations in rat ventral striatum have distinct relationships to behavior, reward, and spiking activity on a learned spatial decision task. Front. Integr. Neurosci. 3, 9.
- Varela, F.J., 1999. Present-time consciousness. J. Conscious. Stud. 6, 111-140.
- Vassoler, F.M., Schmidt, H.D., Gerard, M.E., Famous, K.R., Ciraulo, D.A., Kornetsky, C., Knapp, C.M., Pierce, R.C., 2008. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens shell attenuates cocaine priming-induced reinstatement of drug seeking in rats. J. Neurosci. 28 (35), 8735–8739.
- Ventura, R., Cabib, S., Puglisi-Allegra, S., 2002. Genetic susceptibility of mesocortical dopamine to stress determines liability to inhibition of mesoaccumbens dopamine and to behavioral 'despair' in a mouse model of depression. Neuroscience 115 (4), 999–1007.
- Volkow, N.D., Swanson, J.M., 2003. Variables that affect the clinical use and abuse of methylphenidate in the treatment of ADHD. Am. J. Psychiatry 160 (11), 1909–1918.
- Watt, D.F., Panksepp, J., 2009. Depression: an evolutionarily conserved mechanism to terminate separation-distress? A review of aminergic, peptidergic, and neural network perspectives. Neuro-psychoanalysis 11, 95–104.
- Wauquier, A., Rolls, E.T. (Eds.), 1976. Brain-Stimulation Reward. North-Holland Publishing Co./New York, Elsevier, Amsterdam – Oxford.
- Weiss, F., Markou, A., Lorang, M.T., Koob, G.F., 1992. Basal extracellular dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens are decreased during cocaine withdrawal after unlimited-access self-administration. Brain Res. 593 (2), 314–318.
- White, N.M., Milner, P.M., 1992. The psychobiology of reinforcers. Annu. Rev. Psych. 43, 443–471.
- Wichmann, T., DeLong, M.R., 2003. Pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease: the MPTP primate model of the human disorder. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 991, 199–213.
- Wightman, R.M., Robinson, D.L., 2002. Transient changes in mesolimbic dopamine and their association with 'reward'. J. Neurochem. 82 (4), 721–735.

- Willner, P., 1983a. Dopamine and depression: a review of recent evidence. I. Empirical studies. Brain Res. 287 (3), 211–224.
- Willner, P., 1983b. Dopamine and depression: a review of recent evidence II. Theoretical approaches. Brain Res. 287 (3), 225–236.
- Willner, P., 1997. The mesolimbic dopamine system as a target for rapid antidepressant action. Int. Clin. Psychopharmacol. 12, S7–S14.
- Willner, P., Muscat, R., Papp, M., 1992. Chronic mild stress-induced anhedonia: a realistic animal model of depression. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 16 (4), 525–534.
- Wise, R.A., 1978. Neuroleptic attenuation of intracranial self-stimulation: reward or performance deficits? Life Sci. 22 (7), 535–542.
- Wise, R.A., 1996. Addictive drugs and brain stimulation reward. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 19, 319–340.
- Wise, R.A., 2004. Dopamine, learning and motivation. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 5 (6), 483–494.
- Wise, R.A., 2005. Forebrain substrates of reward and motivation. J. Comp. Neurol. 493 (1), 115–121.
- Wise, R.A., 2008. Dopamine and reward: the anhedonia hypothesis 30 years on. Neurotox. Res. 14 (2-3), 169–183.
- Wise, R.A., Bozarth, M.A., 1987. A psychomotor stimulant theory of addiction. Psychol. Rev. 94 (4), 469–492.
- Wise, R.A., Rompre, P.P., 1989. Brain dopamine and reward. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 40, 191–225.
- Yadid, G., Overstreet, D.H., Zangen, A., 2001. Limbic dopaminergic adaptation to a stressful stimulus in a rat model of depression. Brain Res. 896 (1–2), 43–47.
- Yamada, J., Sugimoto, Y., Yamada, S., 2004. Involvement of dopamine receptors in the anti-immobility effects of dopamine re-uptake inhibitors in the forced swimming test. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 504 (3), 207–211.
- Yetnikoff, L., Arvanitogiannis, A., 2005. A role for affect in context-dependent sensitization to amphetamine. Behav. Neurosci. 119 (6), 1678–1681.
- Zacharko, R.M., Anisman, H., 1991. Stressor-induced anhedonia in the mesocorticolimbic system. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 15 (3), 391–405.
- Zangen, A., Hyodo, K., 2002. Transcranial magnetic stimulation induces increases in extracellular levels of dopamine and glutamate in the nucleus accumbens. Neuroreport 13 (18), 2401–2405.
- Zangen, A., Nakash, R., Overstreet, D.H., Yadid, G., 2001. Association between depressive behavior and absence of serotonin-dopamine interaction in the nucleus accumbens. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 155 (4), 434–439.
- Zellner, M.R., Watt, D.F., Solms, M., Panksepp, J., 2011. Affective neuroscientific and neuropsychoanalytic approaches to two intractable psychiatric problems: Why depression feels so bad and what addicts really want. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 35 (9), 2000–2008.
- Zocchi, A., Orsini, C., Cabib, S., Puglisi-Allegra, S., 1998. Parallel strain-dependent effect of amphetamine on locomotor activity and dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens: an in vivo study in mice. Neuroscience 82 (2), 521–528.